

Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery (Review)

Rees K, Beranek-Stanley M, Burke M, Ebrahim S

Rees K, Beranek-Stanley M, Burke M, Ebrahim S. Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD002138. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002138.

www.cochranelibrary.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	4
DISCUSSION	6
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	7
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	8
REFERENCES	8
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	12
DATA AND ANALYSES	24
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 1 Non fatal stroke	26
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes).	27
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 3 Non fatal MI.	28
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 4 Low output syndrome (LOS).	29
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 5 Intra-aortic balloon pump use (IABP).	30
Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1 Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 6 Pooled "bad" outcomes (perioperative death,	
stroke, MI, LOS, IABP).	31
Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1 Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 7 Early cognitive function tests.	32
Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1 Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 8 Late cognitive function tests.	34
Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia, Outcome 1 Non fatal stroke.	35
Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia, Outcome 2 Perioperative deaths	
(not strokes)	36
Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia, Outcome 3 Non fatal MI.	37
Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Hypothermia versus normothermia, retrograde delivery of cardioplegia, Outcome 1 Non fatal	
stroke	38
Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3 Hypothermia versus normothermia, retrograde delivery of cardioplegia, Outcome 2	
Perioperative deaths (not strokes)	39
Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Hypothermia versus normothermia, antegrade delivery of cardioplegia, Outcome 1 Non fatal	
stroke	40
Analysis 4.2. Comparison 4 Hypothermia versus normothermia, antegrade delivery of cardioplegia, Outcome 2	
Perioperative deaths (not strokes)	41
ADDITIONAL TABLES	41
WHAT'S NEW	49
HISTORY	49
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	50
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	50
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	50
ΝΟΤΕΣ	50
INDEX TERMS	50

[Intervention Review]

Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Karen Rees¹, Morven Beranek-Stanley², Margaret Burke³, Shah Ebrahim⁴

¹Division of Health Sciences, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK. ²c/o Department of Social Medicine, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK. ³Department of Social Medicine, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK. ⁴Department of Non-communicable Disease Epidemiology, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

Contact address: Karen Rees, Division of Health Sciences, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, CV4 7AL, UK. Karen.Rees@warwick.ac.uk. rees_karen@yahoo.co.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Heart Group.

Publication status and date: Stable (no update expected for reasons given in 'What's new'), published in Issue 1, 2013. Review content assessed as up-to-date: 23 October 2000.

Citation: Rees K, Beranek-Stanley M, Burke M, Ebrahim S. Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD002138. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002138.

Copyright © 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Coronary artery bypass surgery (CABG) may be life saving, but known side effects include neurological damage and cognitive impairment. The temperature used during cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) may be important with regard to these adverse outcomes, where hypothermia is used as a means of neuroprotection.

Objectives

To assess the effectiveness of hypothermia during CABG in reducing neurological damage and subsequent cognitive deficits.

Search methods

The Cochrane Controlled Trials Register was searched for randomised controlled trials (RCT) and this was updated by searching MEDLINE and EMBASE to December 1999 using database specific RCT filters. Reference lists of retrieved articles were searched and experts in the field were contacted.

Selection criteria

Only RCTs were considered. All patients undergoing CABG, either first time or revisions, elective or emergency procedures, were included. Any hypothermia protocol was considered. Only trials reporting neurological outcomes were included.

Data collection and analysis

Studies were selected independently and data were extracted from the source papers independently by two reviewers. Authors were contacted for further information. Studies were combined with meta-analysis where appropriate, and meta-regression was used to explore heterogeneity.

Main results

There was a trend towards a reduction in the incidence of non fatal strokes in the hypothermic group (OR 0.68 (0.43, 1.05)). Conversely, there was a trend for the number of non stroke related perioperative deaths to be higher in the hypothermic group (OR 1.46 (0.9, 2.37)). There was no evidence to suggest that hypothermia had an effect on the incidence of non fatal myocardial infarction (OR 1.05).

(0.81, 1.37)), but the incidence of another marker of myocardial damage, low output syndrome, was higher in the hypothermic group (OR 1.21 (0.99, 1.48). When pooling all "bad" outcomes (stroke, perioperative death, myocardial infarction, low output syndrome, intra aortic balloon pump use) there was no significant advantage of either hypothermia or normothermia (OR 1.07 (0.92, 1.24)). Only 4 of 17 trials reported neuropsychological function as an outcome.

Authors' conclusions

This review could find no definite advantage of hypothermia over normothermia in the incidence of clinical events. Hypothermia was associated with a reduced stroke rate, but this is off set by a trend towards an increase in non stroke related perioperative mortality and myocardial damage. There is insufficient data to date to draw any conclusions about the use of mild hypothermia. Similarly, there is insufficient data to date to comment on the effect of temperature during CPB on subtle neurological deficits, and further trials are needed in these areas.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

There is not enough evidence to show that lowering body temperature can reduce nerve damage during coronary artery bypass surgery.

For people with severe coronary artery (heart) disease, bypass surgery can be life saving. However, bypass surgery is sometimes associated with neurological complications, where very occasionally patients may suffer a stroke, or more commonly memory or personality may be affected. The temperature used during bypass surgery may influence these adverse effects. Reducing the temperature during surgery (hypothermia) may protect the brain and reduce the risk of complications. The review of trials found that there was not enough evidence to show the protective effects of hypothermia. More research is needed.

BACKGROUND

Coronary artery by-pass surgery or grafting (CABG) may be lifesaving in patients with severe coronary artery disease, but may also result in neurological damage and cognitive impairment. Although the incidence of gross neurological events following CABG is fairly low, with the incidence of stroke between 0.5-2% (Javid 1969, Gilman 1990), more subtle neuropsychological impairment after CABG has been reported in between 15-80% patients and as high as 100% in the elderly (Hammeke 1988). Whilst survival is of obvious value, neurological damage and subsequent cognitive impairment may have devastating consequences on patients' emotional, occupational and social life. Relatively little attention has been paid to these sequelae, and the British Cardiac Patients Association have indicated that a review in this area is a priority.

Early reports suggested that clinical brain damage following CABG was relatively rare (Gersh 1983). Recently, more subtle neurological deficits have been reported following CABG, where measurable deficits are present in almost half of patients at one week, with a third of patients showing deficits at 2 months post surgery (Toner 1998). Most studies report an improvement in cognitive deficits with increasing time post surgery, possibly due to reversibility of injury, although the possibility of familiariza-

tion with the tests has been debated (Newman 1992, Robinson 1990). Although neurological deficits are often transient, affected individuals are more likely to show signs of early dementia at 5 years post surgery (Sotaniemi 1986). Small cerebral ischemic lesions have been detected by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) following CABG, but the clinical significance of these is debated (Vanninen 1998).

Neurological damage associated with CABG may occur through a number of different mechanisms. First, many patients with coronary artery disease may also have cerebrovascular disease and CABG may trigger an acute cerebrovascular accident or stroke. Second, the method and duration of mechanical by-pass may cause micro-emboli to develop which may result in cerebral emboli, insufficient cerebral blood flow, focal ischemia and neurological damage sufficient to cause cognitive impairment. Third, cognitive impairment may be due to depressive illness associated with coronary artery disease, or following CABG. This review however is not concerned with the psychiatric sequelae of CABG.

Specific interventions to reduce the risk of neurological damage and cognitive impairment following CABG have been developed and fall into 4 major groups:

1) Degree of hypothermia and warming during CABG (Cook 1994; Craver 1995; Heyer 1997).

2) Mechanical interventions to reduce micro-emboli in by-pass machines (Hessel 1980; Henze 1990; Sellman 1991; Taggart 1997; Toner 1997).

3) Anaesthetic and pharmacological strategies to maintain cerebral perfusion and neuroprotection (Fish 1987; Bashein 1990; Zaidan 1991; Gold 1995).

4) Maintenance of physiological homeostasis during surgery through control of acid-base balance, substrate load and glucose management (Griffin 1992; Engelhardt 1996; Patel 1996).

This review will focus on the degree of hypothermia and warming during CABG on neurological outcome and cognitive function. Normothermia during coronary bypass surgery has been shown to be an important risk factor for stroke (Odds Ratio 4.85) (Rao 1995). Hypothermia may provide cerebral protection by reducing cerebral oxygen consumption, and decreasing the risk of cerebral ischaemia due to cerebral emboli as a result of lower cerebral blood flow requirements.

Whilst we are primarily interested in the effects of systemic temperature during cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) on neurological protection, the mode of delivery of cardioplegia to the heart during surgery may also affect embolic load (Baker 1995). Several myocardial protection strategies have been developed using cardioplegia of different temperatures, composition, and different modes of delivery to the heart, either retrograde or antegrade, continuous or intermittent. We will also examine markers of myocardial damage, as there may be a trade off between myocardial protection and neurological protection.

A previous review of neurological outcomes and cardiopulmonary temperature has been conducted (Christakis 1995). The authors could not find any advantage of hypothermia versus normothermia during CABG in terms of both the incidence of strokes and deficits in neuropsychological function. However, this review was not formally systematic in its coverage, included some nonrandomized studies, and several randomized controlled trials have been published since this time. Consequently, an up to date systematic review is indicated.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the effectiveness of hypothermia during CABG in reducing neurological damage and subsequent cognitive deficits.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Randomized controlled trials with parallel group design.

Types of participants

Adults of all ages (18 years plus) undergoing CABG for the first time or revisions. This includes emergency and elective procedures.

Types of interventions

Hypothermia during CABG. Any hypothermia protocol has been included. Protocols using mildly hypothermic or tepid temperatures have been analysed separately. Effects of the intervention on outcome variables have been examined over the short term (within one week of surgery) and longer term (up to 3 months post surgery) to assess short and longer term effects of neurological damage following CABG.

Types of outcome measures

Neurological outcomes: Clinical evidence of cerebrovascular accident or stroke Neuroradiological evidence of brain infarction Neurological deficits identified by neurological examination Neuropsychological testing for cognitive deficits Trans-cranial Doppler estimates of micro-emboli Biochemical markers for cerebral damage (e.g. S-100 protein, neurospecific endolase) Subjective complaints of behaviour or memory change from patient or family Quality of life measures. Other clinical outcomes: Perioperative death not caused by stroke Perioperative non fatal myocardial infarction Low output syndrome (LOS) and intra-aortic balloon pump use (IABP) as markers for myocardial damage

Search methods for identification of studies

The Cochrane Controlled Trials Register (CCTR) was searched using the strategy outlined below. This was updated by searching MEDLINE to December 1999 on Ovid using a standard RCT filter (Dickersin 1994) and EMBASE 1998 to December 1999 using an EMBASE RCT filter (Lefebvre 1996). In addition searches of reference lists of papers were made and expert advice was sought. 1 CORONARY-ARTERY-BYPASS*:ME

2 (CORONARY and BYPASS)

3 (AORTOCORONARY and BYPASS)

4 (AORTOCORONARY and SHUNT)

5 (AORTOCORONARY and ANASTOMOSIS) 6 (CORONARY and GRAFT) 7 (CORONARY and SURGERY) 8 (CARDIOPULMONARY and BYPASS) 9 EXTRACORPOREAL-CIRCULATION*:ME 10 EXTRACORPOREAL 11 HEART-ARREST-INDUCED*:ME 12 CARDIOPLEGI* 13 HYPOTHERMIA 14 HYPOTHERMIA-INDUCED*:ME **15 NORMOTHERMIA** 16 TEPID 17 COGNITION-DISORDERS:ME **18 COGNITION** 19 (COGNITIVE and FUNCTION*) 20 MENTAL-PROCESSES*:ME 21 (CEREBRAL and FUNCTION*) 22 (CEREBRAL and DYSFUNCTION) 23 (CEREBRAL and INJURY) 24 (NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL and DEFICIT) 25 (NEUROLOGICAL and DEFICIT) 26 MENTAL 27 MEMORY 28 PERSONALITY*:ME **29 PERSONALITY** 30 BRAIN-DAMAGE-CHRONIC:ME 31 BRAIN 32 PSYCHOLOGICAL-TESTS*:ME 33 PSYCHOLOGIC* 34 ELECTROENCEPHALOGRAPHY*:ME 35 ELECTROENCEPHALOGRAPH* 36 MAGNETIC-RESONANCE-IMAGING*:ME 37 MRI 38 (MAGNETIC and RESONANCE) 39 CEREBROVASCULAR-DISORDERS*:ME **40 CEREBROVASCULAR** 41 EMBOLI* 42 (MICRO and EMBOLI*) 43 NEUROL* 44 ((((((#1 or #2) or #3) or #4) or #5) or #6) or #7) 45 (((((((#8 or #9) or #10) or #11) or #12) or #13) or #14) or # 15) or #16) 46 (((((((((#17 or #18) or #19) or #20) or #21) or #22) or #23) or #24) or #25) or #26) or #27) 34) or #35) or #36) or #37) or #38) or #39) or #40) or #41) or # 42) or #43) 48 (#46 or #47) 49 (#44 or #45) 50 (#48 and #49) 51 (#44 and #45) 52 (#50 or #51)

Data collection and analysis

From the searches, the title and abstract of each paper was reviewed by one reviewer and potentially relevant references retrieved. Following this initial screening, two reviewers independently selected trials to be included in this review using predetermined inclusion criteria. In all cases disagreements about any study inclusions were resolved by consensus. Study outcome data were extracted independently by two reviewers, and chief investigators of trials were contacted to provide additional relevant information where necessary. In addition to study outcome data, trial quality was assessed independently in terms of concealment of allocation, losses to follow up, blind assessment of outcomes, and adequacy of control. Data concerning patient characteristics; age, sex, urgent versus elective CABG, and details of the CABG procedure, the mode of cardioplegia delivery, and bypass time, were also collected as stated a priori to perform stratified analysis of the data using metaregression.

Dichotomous outcomes for each study have been expressed as odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals (CI). Continuous variables have been expressed as the mean change from baseline to follow up, and the standard deviation difference from baseline to follow up for each comparison group. Where standard deviation differences have not been reported in the source papers, allowance has been made for within patient correlation from baseline to follow up measurements by using the correlation coefficient between the two (see Cochrane Heart Group web site for details and, Follmann 1992). A weighted mean difference (WMD) or standardised mean difference (SMD) and 95% CI have been calculated for each study. Data from each study were pooled as appropriate using a fixed effect model, except where substantial heterogeneity existed according to the Z statistic, and a random effects model was used (where a random effects model was used this is indicated in parentheses).

RESULTS

Description of studies

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

Details of the studies included in the review are shown in the table of characteristics of included studies.

Risk of bias in included studies

See also included studies table.

A clear and adequate method of randomization was reported in 11/19 studies. Three of 19 studies reported inadequate randomization in that group allocation was alternate, or based on hospital

numbers. Sensitivity analyses have been performed excluding these studies and the results are presented below. Blinding of outcome assessors was considered to be important for those studies with neurological examination or psychometric testing as an outcome, rather than those just reporting clinical events. Four of 6 studies reported blinding of outcome assessors. Losses to follow up did not occur in most studies which report clinical events in the short term. One study (Heyer) reported very high losses to follow up for late psychometric testing at 6-9 weeks post surgery, and these data have not been included in the review.

Effects of interventions

From the searching, 19 studies reporting separate trials were identified which met our inclusion criteria. Of these, 13 studies reported hypothermia and normothermia as the primary comparison groups, 4 studies reported the effects of hypothermia, mild hypothermia or tepid temperature and normothermia, and 2 studies hypothermia and tepid temperature. Outcome variables were assessed for the comparison groups hypothermia and normothermia as per groupings in the individual trials, and separately for hypothermia and tepid temperature.

Individual trials recruited patients of very similar mean ages (mean 60.9 years, range across trials 57-65), and the majority of participants were men (84% men, range across trials 74-98%). Most trials excluded patients with neurological deficits. The case mix of patients across trials were relatively low risk patients with the exception of one trial that recruited only patients with left ventricular dysfunction (Rashid B). Most patients across trials underwent elective CABG (mean 14.3% urgent operations, range 0-59%), with the exception of one trial where the number of urgent cases exceeded the number of elective cases (Engleman cold).

Clinical outcome variables were assessed only over the short term within 30 days of the operation.

Clinical events

Hypothermia vs normothermia

The pooled effect estimate showed a reduction in the incidence of non fatal perioperative strokes in the hypothermic group (OR 0.68 (0.43, 1.05)), although this failed to reach statistical significance. Conversely, there was a non significant trend for the number of non stroke related perioperative deaths to be higher in the hypothermic group (OR 1.46 (0.9, 2.37)). Hypothermia had no effect on the incidence of perioperative non fatal myocardial infarction (OR 1.05 (0.81, 1.37)). Data were also collected on another more sensitive marker of myocardial damage, low output syndrome (LOS), which is described as the occurrence of persistent clinically threatening hypotension, and defined as a requirement for intra-aortic balloon pump support, or prolonged use of inotropes postoperatively to maintain systolic blood pressure and cardiac output. The incidence of low output syndrome in the hypothermic group was higher than in the normothermic group (OR 1.21 (0.99, 1.48). Paradoxically, the use of an intra-aortic balloon

pump (IABP) was higher in the normothermic group (OR 0.67 (0.44, 1.03)). When pooling all "bad" outcomes (stroke, perioperative death, MI, LOS, IABP) there was no significant advantage of either hypothermia or normothermia (OR 1.07 (0.92, 1.24)). Hypothermia vs tepid temperature

Only 5 studies reported non fatal stroke as an outcome. Moderate hypothermia had no effect on the incidence of perioperative non fatal stroke (OR 0.94 (0.33, 2.73)), perioperative death (OR 1.94 (0.39, 9.66)), or non fatal MI (OR 0.68 (0.26, 1.81)) compared to mild hypothermia or tepid temperature.

Psychometric testing to assess cognitive function

Hypothermia vs normothermia

Of the 17 studies in this comparison group, only 4 reported neuropsychological function as an outcome measure. Each trial used a number of different psychometric tests. Tests have been broadly divided into those measuring intellectual IQ function, memory, motor skill or dexterity, and executive function. Those trials which have used the same tests have been pooled to determine effect size. Subsets of tests have not been pooled as they often measure different things and respond differently across different age groups. This is particularly true for the Wechsler Memory Scale (WMS) (Lezak). A qualitative overview of all of the psychometric tests used in these trials are presented in Table 1 and Table 2. Results for both the quantitative and qualitative analysis have been divided into early tests (within 1 week of the operation) and late tests (1-3 months post operatively) as reported in the source papers.

For tests of intellectual IQ function and memory, higher scores indicate improved performance, so where mean changes from baseline to follow up are negative, this indicates a deterioration in performance. The opposite is true for all tests of motor skill/dexterity and executive function where higher scores show a deterioration in performance, therefore a mean change from baseline to follow up which is negative should be interpreted as an improvement in performance. For these reasons, the sign of the mean change in intellectual IQ function and memory has been changed for the pooled analysis so the direction of effect is in the appropriate direction.

No significant neuroprotective effects of hypothermia were seen for any of the early psychometric tests (within 1 week post op) in the quantitative analysis, although the numbers of trials in each comparison group were small. Similarly, no significant effects of hypothermia were seen for the late psychometric tests (1-3 months post op). The qualitative analysis shows variable responses to different tests for different trials (see Table 1 and Table 2 for early and late tests respectively). Most tests of cognitive function show deterioration immediately post operatively which is present in either group, or both groups to a similar extent. Conversely, for the late tests, most trials show an improvement in cognitive function from baseline to follow up, again individual trials showing variable responses of hypothermia and normothermia.

Neurological examination

Five trials in the hypothermia vs normothermia group reported

neurological examination outcomes using a number of different assessments. The results of these are presented qualitatively in Table 3. Deterioration in the Mathew score, and mini mental status score was seen to a similar extent post surgery in both comparison groups in the 2 trials that measured each of these as outcomes.

Psychometric testing and neurological examination in the hypothermia vs tepid temperature group

Two trials in this group reported psychometric testing, one for early tests within 1 week of surgery, and one for late tests at 6 weeks post surgery. Results are presented qualitatively in Table 4. Again, variable responses were seen between hypothermia and tepid temperature for each of the tests.

Neurological examination was reported in 3 trials in this group and results are presented qualitatively in Table 5. Deterioration in the Mathew score was seen 3-4 days post surgery in one trial to a similar extent in both groups. The mini mental status score was unchanged in either group in another trial from baseline to 6 days post surgery.

Health related quality of life

None of the trials reported health related quality of life as an outcome.

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analyses excluding trials of low methodological quality, where randomisation was inadequately performed by allocation of patients on the basis of odd and even hospital numbers, or alternating patients to treatment group, had no effect on the pooled effect estimate for non fatal strokes (OR 0.65 (0.41, 1.05). Sensitivity analysis excluding studies where the systemic temperature is similar in both treatment groups has no effect on the pooled effect estimate for non-fatal strokes (OR 0.66 (0.42, 1.02)).

Stratified analysis

Subgroup analysis was performed to examine the effects of the method of cardioplegia delivery (either retrograde or antegrade) on the incidence of non fatal stroke. No significant advantage was seen with either method, although there were relatively few studies in each comparison group (retrograde cardioplegia, random effects model OR 0.68 (0.28, 1.62), antegrade cardioplegia OR 0.84 (0.44, 1.61)). This subgroup analysis was also carried out for the outcome perioperative deaths where similarly there was no significant advantage seen with either method (retrograde cardioplegia OR 1.31 (0.56, 3.11), antegrade cardioplegia OR 1.6 (0.87, 2.95)).

Heterogeneity was further explored with the use of meta regression. Co-variates defined a priori included retrograde or antegrade delivery of cardioplegia as a dichotomous variable, bypass time and percentage of patients undergoing urgent rather than elective surgery. The method of delivery of cardioplegia, or the percentage of urgent cases within each trial did not significantly affect the number of non-fatal strokes. The odds ratio for non-fatal strokes was however significantly affected by the mean time on bypass. The odds ratio for non-fatal stroke is multiplied by a factor of 1.03 per minute increase in bypass time (coefficient log OR 0.0297, (CI 0.00387, 0.0555), p=0.024), thus the number of non-fatal stokes increases with increasing time on bypass.

DISCUSSION

The findings from this systematic review using the current trial evidence cannot demonstrate any clear advantage of either hypothermic or normothermic CPB in the occurrence of clinical events. There is a non significant trend towards fewer strokes in the hypothermic group, but this is counterbalanced by a trend towards higher perioperative mortality and myocardial damage as shown by the data on low output syndrome. Conversely, there were no differences between the groups in the occurrence of MI, possibly because this is regarded as a relatively crude marker for myocardial damage. When we examine the pooled "bad" outcomes (including stroke, perioperative death, MI, LOS and IABP use) there is no difference in the summary effect estimate between hypothermia and normothermia.

Individual trials differ in both systemic and cardioplegic temperatures, and the mode of delivery of cardioplegia. These differences, particularly the mode of cardioplegia delivery, either retrograde or antegrade, continuous or intermittent, may affect the embolic load (Baker 1995). Cold cardioplegia was originally used to maintain cardiac arrest during surgery, and to minimise ischaemic damage. More recently "warm heart surgery" proposed to be more beneficial in myocardial protection has been introduced whereby the temperature of the cardioplegia is maintained at 37 degrees and cardiac arrest during surgery is maintained by the potassium concentration in the cardioplegia rather than by hypothermia. Systemic temperatures reflect those of the CPB perfusate, and patients may be actively warmed, actively cooled or allowed to drift towards mild hypothermia, depending on the protocol. Retrograde delivery of the cardioplegia via the coronary sinus prevents distal embolization of coronary or graft debris, and is recommended for redo CABG, and for tight coronary stenoses (Loop 1992). Cardioplegia can be distributed to the myocardium regardless of the state of the native vessels, and flooding of the operative field is reduced, allowing more continuous flow. Retrograde cardioplegia has also been reported to result in a higher incidence of emboli immediately after release of the aortic cross clamp compared with antegrade cardioplegia (Baker 1995). Antegrade delivery of cardioplegia is accomplished via the ascending aorta. Flow is necessarily limited in myocardial regions served by severely occluded coronary arteries.

In an attempt to determine the effects of retrograde or antegrade delivery of cardioplegia on the incidence of stroke, we have performed subgroup analyses, and meta regression. No significant advantage of either method was seen, although the number of trials in each group were small. Similarly, meta regression failed to show

a relationship between effect size and mode of cardioplegia delivery. The systemic temperature rather than cardioplegia temperature is more important in terms of neuroprotection. The group allocation to hypothermia or normothermia in all but 2 trials reflected the systemic temperature rather than cardioplegia temperature. Sensitivity analyses excluding these trials had little effect on the summary effect estimate for non fatal strokes.

The clinical event data contributing to the current meta-analysis is dominated by 2 multi centre RCTs, the study from Emory (Martin (Emory)) and the Warm Heart Investigators in Toronto (Warm Heart). To date, these are the only RCTs of warm versus cold surgery of sufficient power to detect possible differences in the stroke rate. The warm heart investigators found no difference in the rate of strokes or MI, less frequent low output syndrome, and a trend towards reduced perioperative mortality in the normothermic versus hypothermic groups. Conversely, the Emory series found no relative advantages of normothermia, but a significantly increased stroke rate which lead to early termination of the study. A number of factors may explain these opposing results, particularly the operative technique and the patient population. The Emory trial used continuous retrograde warm blood cardioplegia versus intermittent cold oxygenated crystalloid cardioplegia. Patients were actively warmed or cooled to maintain systemic normothermia or hypothermia respectively. The total number of adverse neurological events were 1.4% in the cold group, and 4.5% in the warm group. Multivariate analysis was used to determine predictors of stoke in this group of patients. Preoperative congestive heart failure, age, aortic cross clamp time and use of warm retrograde cardioplegia were all significantly associated with stroke. Differences in the stroke rate were non existent in patients under 60, twice as likely in the warm blood patients between the ages of 60-69, and five times as high in warm blood patients over the age of 70 (Guyton 1995).

In the warm heart investigators trial there were fewer women (16% vs 25%), fewer patients over the age of 70 (16% vs 30%), and fewer higher risk patients for re operations (14% vs 4%). Differences in the patient populations alone may explain the higher incidence of strokes in the Emory series. However, cardioplegia in both the warm and cold blood groups was primarily antegrade (94% of patients) in the warm heart investigators trial, whereas in the Emory trial patients received warm retrograde continuous cardioplegia. Warm patients in the warm heart investigators trial were not actively warmed to maintain systemic normothermia as in the Emory series, but rather allowed to drift to 33 degrees, so it is possible that a significant proportion of patients in this group were mildly hypothermic. Small differences in systemic temperature may affect the susceptibility of the brain to cerebral emboli due to differences in metabolic rate and cerebral blood flow.

In response to the different results found with normothermic CPB, tepid or mild hypothermic CPB has been proposed as a possible compromise. Only 5 trials totaling nearly 500 patients reported

stroke as an outcome in this group, so there was insufficient power to detect differences between groups.

Across all trials, meta regression was used to examine the effects of cardioplegia delivery as mentioned previously, but also the number of urgent rather than elective procedures, and bypass time on the incidence of strokes. The effect size was unrelated to the mode of cardioplegia delivery, or the number of urgent procedures. Mean bypass time was however associated with the incidence of strokes, where the number of strokes increases with increasing time on bypass. This finding is however based on mean trial data rather than individual patient data and should be interpreted with caution. Other potentially important co-variates include variability in cointerventions and operative techniques, volumes and flow rates of cardioplegia, individual patient systemic temperatures, and surgeon specific outcomes.

Subtle neurological deficits detected by neurological examination or psychometric testing, and quality of life measures, have been considered important outcomes of CABG with the reduction in stroke rates over the years. Unfortunately very few trials reported these as outcomes, and in those that did, several different measures/ scales were used which makes interpretation of findings between trials difficult. None of the trials included in this review reported quality of life as an outcome.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

This review could find no definite advantage of hypothermia over normothermia in the incidence of clinical events. Hypothermia was associated with a reduced stroke rate, but this is off set by a trend towards an increase in perioperative mortality and myocardial damage. There is insufficient trial evidence to date to draw any conclusions about the use of tepid CPB. Similarly, no conclusions can be made concerning the effect of temperature on more subtle neurological deficits due to lack of data.

Implications for research

To date only 2 trials included within this review are of sufficient power to detect differences in the stroke rate between hypothermia and normothermia. Differences in operative techniques and patient population may explain the contradictions found between these 2 trials. Further trials are required of standard format to resolve some of these discrepancies, perhaps with the use of tepid CPB given the high stroke rate reported in the Emory series. There is insufficient data to date to comment on the effect of temperature during CPB on subtle neurological deficits and further trials are needed in this area. Similarly, health related quality of life which is an important outcome has not been reported in any trial to date, and future trials should address this.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to Professor David Naylor for providing data on LOS and IABP use, and for his valuable comments. Thanks to Dr Sascha Martin and Dr Heather Engleman, University of Edinburgh, for their advice concerning interpretation of psychometric data.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Birdi cold {published data only}

Birdi I, Regragui I, Izzat MB, Bryan AJ, Angelini GD. Influence of normothermic systemic perfusion during coronary artery bypass operations: a randomized prospective study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1997;**114**(3):475–81.

Birdi tepid {published data only}

Birdi I, Regragui I, Izzat MB, Bryan AJ, Angelini GD. Influence of normothermic systemic perfusion during coronary artery bypass operations: a randomized prospective study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1997;**114**(3):475–81.

Cook {published data only}

Cook DJ, Oliver-WC J, Orszulak TA, Daly RC, Bryce RD. Cardiopulmonary bypass temperature, hematocrit, and cerebral oxygen delivery in humans. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1995; **60**(6):1671–7.

Engleman cold {published data only}

Engelman RM, Pleet AB, Rousou JA, Flack JE, Deaton DW, Gregory CA, Pekow PS. What is the best perfusion temperature for coronary revascularization?. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;**112**(6):1622–32. Engelman RM, Pleet AB, Rousou JA, Flack JE, Deaton DW, Kulshrestha P, Gregory CA, Pekow PS. Does

cardiopulmonary bypass temperature correlate with postoperative central nervous system dysfunction?. *J Card Surg* 1995;**10**(4 Suppl):493–7.

Engelman RM, Pleet AB, Rousou JA, Flack JE, Deaton DW, Pekow PS, Gregory CA. Influence of cardiopulmonary bypass perfusion temperature on neurologic and hematologic function after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 1999;**67**(6):1547–55.

Engleman tepid {published data only}

Engelman RM, Pleet AB, Rousou JA, Flack JE, Deaton DW, Gregory CA, Pekow PS. What is the best perfusion temperature for coronary revascularization?. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;**112**(6):1622–32. Engelman RM, Pleet AB, Rousou JA, Flack JE, Deaton DW, Kulshrestha P, Gregory CA, Pekow PS. Does cardiopulmonary bypass temperature correlate with postoperative central nervous system dysfunction?. *J Card Surg* 1995;**10**(4 Suppl):493–7. Engelman RM, Pleet AB, Rousou JA, Flack JE, Deaton

DW, Pekow PS, Gregory CA. Influence of cardiopulmonary bypass perfusion temperature on neurologic and

hematologic function after coronary artery bypass grafting. Annals of Thoracic Surgery 1999;**67**(6):1547–55.

Fiore {published data only}

Fiore AC, Swartz MT, Nevett R, Vieth PJ, Magrath RA, Sherrick A, Barner HB. Intermittent antegrade tepid versus cold blood cardioplegia in elective myocardial revascularization. *Ann Thorac.Surg.* 1998;**65**(6):1559–64.

Hayashida cold A {published data only}

Hayashida N, Ikonomidis JS, Weisel R, hirai T, vanov J, arson SM, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC, Mickle DAG. The optimal cardioplegic temperature. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1994; **58**:961–71.

Hayashida cold R {published data only}

Hayashida N, Ikonomidis JS, Weisel R, hirai T, vanov J, arson SM, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC, Mickle DAG. The optimal cardioplegic temperature.. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1994; **58**:961–71.

Hayashida tepid A {published data only}

Hayashida N, Ikonomidis JS, Weisel R, hirai T, vanov J, arson SM, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC, Mickle DAG. The optimal cardioplegic temperature. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1994; **58**:961–71.

Hayashida tepid R {published data only}

Hayashida N, Ikonomidis JS, Weisel R, hirai T, vanov J, arson SM, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC, Mickle DAG. The optimal cardioplegic temperature. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1994; **58**:961–71.

Heyer {published data only}

Heyer EJ, Adams DC, Delphin E, McMahon DJ, Steneck SD, Oz MC, Michler RE, Rose EA. Cerebral dysfunction after coronary artery bypass grafting done with mild or moderate hypothermia. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1997;**114** (2):270–7.

Kadoi {unpublished data only}

Kadoi Y, Kawahara F, Saito S, Morita T, Kunimoto F, Goto F, Fujita N. Effects of hypothermic and normothermic cardiopulmonary bypass on brain oxygenation. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1999;**68**:34–39.

Lajos {published data only}

Lajos TZ, Espersen CC, Lajos PS, Fiedler RC, Bergsland J, Joyce LT. Comparison of cold versus warm cardioplegia: Crystalloid antegrade or retrograde blood?. *Circulation* 1993;**88**(5 II):344–9.

Landymore {published data only}

Landymore R, Murphy JT, Hall R, Islam M. Randomized trial comparing intermittent antegrade warm blood cardioplegia with multidose cold blood cardioplegia for coronary artery bypass. *Eur.J.Cardiothorac.Surg.* 1996;**10** (3):179–84.

Martin (Emory) {published data only}

Martin TD, Craver JM, Gott JP, Weintraub WS, Ramsay J, Mora CT, Guyton RA. Prospective, randomized trial of retrograde warm blood cardioplegia: myocardial benefit and neurologic threat. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1994;**57**(2):298–302. Mora CT, Henson MB, Weintraub WS, Murkin JM, Martin TD, Craver JM, Gott JP, Guyton RA. The effect of temperature management during cardiopulmonary bypass on neurologic and neuropsychologic outcomes in patients undergoing coronary revascularization.. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;**112**(2):514–22.

McLean (Warm Heart) {published data only}

McLean RF, Wong BI, Naylor CD, Snow WG, Harrington EM, Gawel M, Fremes SE. Cardiopulmonary bypass, temperature, and central nervous system dysfunction. *Circulation* 1994;**90**(Circulation 1994;90(5 Pt 2):II250-II255):II250-II255.

The Warm Heart Investigators. Randomised trial of normothermic versus hypothermic coronary bypass surgery. *Lancet* 1994;**343**:559–63.

Mora (Emory) {published data only}

Martin TD, Craver JM, Gott JP, Weintraub WS, Ramsay J, Mora CT, Guyton RA. Prospective, randomized trial of retrograde warm blood cardioplegia: myocardial benefit and neurologic threat. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1994;**57**(2):298–302. Mora CT, Henson MB, Weintraub WS, Murkin JM, Martin TD, Craver JM, Gott JP, Guyton RA. The effect of temperature management during cardiopulmonary bypass on neurologic and neuropsychologic outcomes in patients undergoing coronary revascularization. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;**112**(2):514–22.

Pelletier {published data only}

Pelletier LC, Carrier M, Leclerc Y, Cartier R, Wesolowska E, Solymoss BC, Swain JA, Daggett JW, Levitsky S, Angell, et al.Intermittent antegrade warm versus cold blood cardioplegia: A prospective, randomized study. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 1994;**58**(1):41–9.

Plourde {published data only}

Plourde G, Leduc AS, Morin JE, DeVarennes B, Latter D, Symes J, Robbins R, Fosset N, Couture L, Ptito A. Temperature during cardiopulmonary bypass for coronary artery operations does not influence postoperative cognitive function: a prospective, randomized trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1997;**114**(1):123–8.

Rashid A {published data only}

Rashid A, Fabri BM, Jackson M, Desmond MJ, Grech ED, Battistessa SA, Page RD. A prospective randomised study of continuous warm versus intermittent cold blood cardioplegia for coronary artery surgery: preliminary report. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 1994;**8**(5):265–9.

Rashid B {published data only}

Rashid A, Jackson M, Page RD, Desmond MJ, Fabri BM. Continuous warm versus intermittent cold blood cardioplegia for coronary bypass surgery in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. *Eur J Cardio-thorac Surg* 1995;**9**: 405–9.

Regragui cold {published data only}

Regragui I, Birdi I, Izzat MB, Black AM, Lopatatzidis A, Day CJ, Gardner F, Bryan AJ, Angelini GD. The effects of cardiopulmonary bypass temperature on neuropsychologic outcome after coronary artery operations: a prospective randomized trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;**112**(4): 1036–45.

Regragui tepid {published data only}

Regragui I, Birdi I, Izzat MB, Black AM, Lopatatzidis A, Day CJ, Gardner F, Bryan AJ, Angelini GD. The effects of cardiopulmonary bypass temperature on neuropsychologic outcome after coronary artery operations: a prospective randomized trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;**112**(4): 1036–45.

Tonz {published data only}

Tonz M, Mihaljevic T, von-Segesser LK, Schmid ER, Joller JH, Pei P, Turina MI. Normothermia versus hypothermia during cardiopulmonary bypass: a randomized, controlled trial. *Ann Thorac.Surg.* 1995;**59**(1):137–43.

Warm Heart {published data only}

McLean RF, Wong BI, Naylor CD, Snow WG, Harrington EM, Gawel M, Fremes SE. Cardiopulmonary bypass, temperature, and central nervous system dysfunction. *Circulation* 1994;**90**(5 Pt 2):II250–II255.

The Warm Heart Investigators. Randomised trial of normothermic versus hypothermic coronary bypass surgery. *Lancet* 1994;**343**:559–63.

Wong BI, McLean RF, Naylor CD, Snow WG, Harrington EM, Gawel MJ, Woods RB, Fremes SE. Centralnervous-system dysfunction after warm or hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. *Lancet* 1992;**339**(8806):1383–4.

Yau A cold A {published data only}

Yau TM, Ikonomidis JS, Weisel RD, Mickle DAG, Hayashida, Ivanov J, Carson S, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC. Which techniques of cardioplegia prevent ischemia?. *Annals* of Thoracic Surgery 1993;**56**(5):1020–8.

Yau A cold int. A {published data only}

Yau TM, Ikonomidis JS, Weisel RD, Mickle DAG, Hayashida, Ivanov J, Carson S, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC. Which techniques of cardioplegia prevent ischemia?. *Annals* of Thoracic Surgery 1993;**56**(5):1020–8.

Yau A cold R {published data only}

Yau TM, Ikonomidis JS, Weisel RD, Mickle DAG, Hayashida, Ivanov J, Carson S, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC. Which techniques of cardioplegia prevent ischemia?. *Annals* of Thoracic Surgery 1993;**56**(5):1020–8.

Yau B {published data only}

Yau TM, Ikonomidis JS, Weisel RD, Mickle DAG, Ivanov J, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati L, Carson S, Liu P, Doty DB, et al.Ventricular function after normothermic

versus hypothermic cardioplegia.. Journal of Thoracic & Cardiovascular Surgery 1993;105(5):833-44.

References to studies excluded from this review

Arom {published data only}

Arom KV, Emery RW, Northrup WF. Warm heart surgery: a prospective comparison between normothermic and tepid temperature. *J Card Surg* 1995;**10**(3):221–6.

Birdi {published data only}

Birdi I, Caputo M, Underwood M, Angelini GD, Bryan AJ. Influence of normothermic systemic perfusion temperature on cold myocardial protection during coronary artery bypass surgery. *Cardiovasc.Surg* 1999;7:369–74.

Chello {published data only}

Chello M, Mastroroberto P, De A, V, Pantaleo D, Ascione R, Spampinato N. Intermittent warm blood cardioplegia preserves myocardial beta-adrenergic receptor function. *Ann Thorac.Surg.* 1997;**63**(3):683–688.

Christakis {published data only}

Christakis GT, Koch JP, Deemar KA, Fremes SE, Sinclair L, Chen E, Salerno TA, Goldman BS, Lichtenstein SV. A randomized study of the systemic effects of warm heart surgery. *Ann Thorac.Surg.* 1992;**54**(3):449–57.

Christakis 2 {published data only}

Christakis GT, Buth KJ, Weisel RD, Rao V, Joy L, Fremes SE, Goldman BS. Randomized study of right ventricular function with intermittent warm or cold cardioplegia. *Ann Thorac.Surg* 1996;**61**(1):128–34.

Craver {published data only}

Craver JM, Bufkin BL, Weintraub WS, Guyton RA. Neurologic events after coronary bypass grafting: further observations with warm cardioplegia. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1995;**59**(6):1429–33.

Elwatidy {published data only}

Elwatidy AM, Fadalah MA, Bukhari EA, Aljubair KA, Syed A, Ashmeg AK, Alfagih MR. Antegrade crystalloid cardioplegia vs antegrade/retrograde cold and tepid blood cardioplegia in CABG. *Ann Thorac.Surg.* 1999;**68**:447–53.

Frank {published data only}

Frank SM, Fleisher LA, Breslow MJ, Higgins MS, Olson KF, Kelly S, Beattie C. Perioperative maintenance of normothermia reduces the incidence of morbid cardiac events. A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 1997;**277**(14): 1127–34.

Gozal {published data only}

Gozal Y, Glantz L, Luria MH, Milgalter E, Shimon D, Drenger B. Normothermic continuous blood cardioplegia improves electrophysiologic recovery after open heart surgery. *Anesthesiology* 1996;**84**(6):1298–306.

Grech {published data only}

Grech ED, Baines M, Steyn R, Faragher EB, Page RD, Fabri BM, Ramsdale DR, Rashid A. Evidence that continuous normothermic blood cardioplegia offers better myocardial protection than intermittent hypothermic cardioplegia. *Br.Heart J.* 1995;74(5):517–21.

Guiraudon {published data only}

Guiraudon GM, Campbell CS, McLellan DG, Kostuk WJ, Purves PD, MacDonald JL, Cleland AG, Tadros NB. Retrograde coronary sinus versus aortic root perfusion with cold cardioplegia: randomized study of levels of cardiac enzymes in 40 patients. *Circulation* 1986;74(5 Pt 2): III105–III115.

Hayashida {published data only}

Hayashida N, Weisel RD, Shirai T, Ikonomidis JS, Ivanov J, Carson SM, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC, Mickle DA. Tepid antegrade and retrograde cardioplegia. *Ann Thorac.Surg.* 1995;**59**(3):723–9.

Kaukoranta {published data only}

Kaukoranta P, Lepojarvi M, Nissinen J, Raatikainen P, Peuhkurinen KJ. Normothermic versus mild hypothermic retrograde blood cardioplegia: a prospective, randomized study. *Ann Thorac.Surg.* 1995;**60**(4):1087–93.

Nathan {published data only}

Nathan HJ, Polis T. The management of temperature during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass: II - Effect of prolonged hypothermia. *Can J Anaesth* 1995;**42**(8):672–6.

Regragui {published data only}

Regragui IA, Izzat MB, Birdi I, Lapsley M, Bryan AJ, Angelini GD. Cardiopulmonary bypass perfusion temperature does not influence perioperative renal function. *Ann Thorac.Surg.* 1995;**60**(1):160–4.

Yau {published data only}

Yau TM, Weisel RD, Mickle DA, Komeda M, Ivanov J, Carson S, Mohabeer MK, Tumiati LC. Alternative techniques of cardioplegia. *Circulation* 1992;**86**(5 Suppl): II377–II384.

References to studies awaiting assessment

Buschbeck {published and unpublished data}

Buschbeck D, Riess FC Dobritzch B, Dahme B, Bleese N. Short-term neuropsychologic differences after normothermic versus hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 1998; **116**(2):350–353.

Croughwell {published data only}

Croughwell ND, Newman MF, Lowry E, Davis RJ, Landolfo KP, White WD, Kirchner JL, Mythen MG. Effect of temperature during cardiopulmonary bypass on gastric mucosal perfusion. *Br.J.Anaesth.* 1997;**78**(1):34–8.

Additional references

Baker 1995

Baker AJ, Naser BI, Mazer CD. Cerebral microembolization during coronary artery bypass using different cardioplegia techniques. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1995;**59**:1187–1191.

Bashein 1990

Bashein G, Townes BD, Nessly ML, Bledsoe SW, Hornbein TF, Davis KB, Goldstein DE, Coppel DB. A randomized study of carbon dioxide management during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. *Anesthesiology* 1990;**72**(1):7–15.

Christakis 1995

Christakis GT, Abel JG, Lichtenstein SV. Neurological outcomes and cardiopulmonary temperature: A Clinical Review. J Card Surg 1995;10(Suppl):475–80.

Cook 1994

Cook DJ, Oliver JW, Orszulak TA, Daly RC. A prospective, randomized comparison of cerebral venous oxygen saturation during normothermic and hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. *Journal of Thoracic & Cardiovascular Surgery* 1994;**107**(4):1020–9.

Craver 1995

Craver JM, Bufkin BL, Weintraub WS, Guyton RA. Neurologic events after coronary bypass grafting: further observations with warm cardioplegia. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1995;**59**(6):1429–33.

Dickersin 1994

Dickersin K, Scherer R, Lefebvre C. Identifying relevant studies for systematic reviews. *British Medical Journal* 1994; **309**:128691.

Engelhardt 1996

Engelhardt W, Dierks T, Pause M, Hartung E. Early cerebral functional outcome after coronary artery bypass surgery using different acid-base management during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 1996;**40** (4):457–65.

Fish 1987

Fish KJ, Helms KN, Sarnquist FH, van-Steennis C, Linet OI, Hilberman M, Mitchell RS, Jamieson SW, Miller DC, Tinklenberg JS. A prospective, randomized study of the effects of prostacyclin on neuropsychologic dysfunction after coronary artery operation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1987;**93**(4):609–15.

Follmann 1992

Follmann D, Elliot P, Suh I, Cutler J. Variance imputation for overviews of clinical trials with continuous response. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 1992;**45**(7):769–773.

Gersh 1983

Gersh BJ, Kronmal RA, Frye RL, Schaff HV, Ryan TJ, Gosselin AJ, Kaiser GC, Killip T. Coronary arteriography and coronary artery bypass surgery: morbidity and mortality in patients ages 65 years or older. A report from the Coronary Artery Surgery Study. *Circulation* 1983;**67** (3):483–91.

Gilman 1990

Gilman SD. Neurological complications of open heart surgery. *Ann Neurol* 1990;28:475–7.

Gold 1995

Gold JP, Charlson ME, Williams RP, Szatrowski TP, Peterson JC, Pirraglia PA, Hartman GS, Yao FS, Hollenberg JP, Barbut D, et al.Improvement of outcomes after coronary artery bypass. A randomized trial comparing intraoperative high versus low mean arterial pressure. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1995;**110**(5):1302–11.

Griffin 1992

Griffin S, Klinger L, Newman S, Hothersall J, McLean P, Harrison M, Sturridge M, Treasure T. The effect of substrate load and blood glucose management on cerebral dysfunction following cardiopulmonary bypass. *Vasc Surg* 1992;**26**(8):656–64.

Guyton 1995

Guyton RA, Mellit RJ, Weintraub WS. A critical assessment of neurological risk during warm heart surgery. *J Card Surg* 1995;**10**:488–492.

Hammeke 1988

Hammeke TA, Hastings JE. Neuropsychologic alterations after cardiac operation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1988;**96**: 326–31.

Henze 1990

Henze T, Stephan H, Sonntag H. Cerebral dysfunction following extracorporeal circulation for aortocoronary bypass surgery: no differences in neuropsychological outcome after pulsatile versus nonpulsatile flow. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1990;**38**(2):65–8.

Hessel 1980

Hessel EA, Johnson DD, Ivey TD, Miller-DW J. Membrane versus bubble oxygenator for cardiac operations. A prospective randomized study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1980;**80**(1):111–22.

Heyer 1997

Heyer EJ, Adams DC, Delphin E, McMahon DJ, Steneck SD, Oz MC, Michler RE, Rose EA. Cerebral dysfunction after coronary artery bypass grafting done with mild or moderate hypothermia. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1997;**114** (2):270–7.

Javid 1969

Javid H, Tufo HM, Hunter IA. Neurological abnormalities following open heart surgery. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1969;**58**:502–7.

Lefebvre 1996

Lefebvre C, McDonald S. Development of a sensitive search strategy for reports of randomized controlled trials in EMBASE. Paper presented at the Fourth International Cochrane Colloquium, Adelaide, Australia. 1996.

Lezak

Lezak MD. *Neuropsychological assessment*. 3rd Edition. New York Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995.

Loop 1992

Loop FD, Higgins TL, Panda R, et al.Myocardial protection during cardiac operations. *J Thoracic Cardiovasc Surg* 1992; **28**:1456–1462.

Newman 1992

Newman M, Frasco P, Kern F, et al.Central nervous system dysfunction after cardiac surgery. *Adv Card Surg* 1992;**3**: 243–284.

Patel 1996

Patel RL, Turtle MR, Chambers DJ, James DN, Newman S, Venn GE. Alpha-stat acid-base regulation during cardiopulmonary bypass improves neuropsychologic outcome in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;**111**(6):1267–79.

Rao 1995

Rao V, Christakis GT, Weisel RD, Ivanov J, Peniston CM, Ikonomidis JS, Shirai T. Risk factors for stroke following coronary bypass surgery. *Journal of Cardiac Surgery* 1995;**10** (**4Suppl**):468–474.

Robinson 1990

Robinson M, Blumenthal J, Burker EJ. Coronary artery bypass grafting and cognitive function: A Review. *J Cardiopulm Rehab* 1990;**10**:180–189.

Sellman 1991

Sellman M, Ivert T, Wahlgren NG, Knutsson E, Semb BK. Early neurological and electroencephalographic changes after coronary artery surgery in low-risk patients younger than 70 years. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1991;**39**(2):76–80.

Sotaniemi 1986

Sotaniemi KA, Mononen H, Hokkanan TE. Long term cerebral outcome after open heart surgery. A five year neuropsychological follow up study. *Stroke* 1986;**17**(3): 410–416.

Taggart 1997

Taggart DP, Bhattacharya K, Meston N, Standing SJ, Kay, JDS, Pillai R, Johnsson P, Westaby S. Serum S-100 protein concentration after cardiac surgery: A randomized trial of arterial line filtration. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 1997;**11**(4):645–9.

Toner 1997

Toner I, Taylor KM, Lockwood, Newman S, Smith PL. EEG changes during cardiopulmonary bypass surgery and postoperative neuropsychological deficit: the effect of bubble and membrane oxygenators. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 1997;**11**(2):312–9.

Toner 1998

Toner I, Taylor KM, Newman S, Smith PL. Cerebral functional changes following cardiac surgery: Neuropsychological and EEG assessment. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 1998;**13**(1):13–20.

Vanninen 1998

Vanninen R, Aikia M, Kononen M, Partanen K, Tulla H, Hartikainen P, Paranen J, Manninen H, Enberg P, Hippelainen M. Subclinical cerebral complications after coronary artery bypass grafting: prospective analysis with magnetic resonance imaging, quantitative electroencephalography, and neuropsychological assessment. *Arch Neurol* 1998;**55**(5):618–27.

Zaidan 1991

Zaidan JR, Klochany A, Martin WM, Ziegler JS, Harless DM, Andrews RB. Effect of thiopental on neurologic outcome following coronary artery bypass grafting. *Anesthesiology* 1991;74(3):406–11.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Birdi cold

Methods	Randomisation by card allocation to one of three groups.
Participants	300 patients (35 women) randomised to cold, tepid or warm CPB. Mean age 60 years. 88% patients for elective CABG
Interventions	CPB perfusate temperature maintained to give a target nasopharyngeal temperature of 28 degrees, 32 degrees, or 37 degrees for the cold, tepid and warm groups respectively. Myocardial protection achieved by cold antegrade crystalloid cardioplegia and topical cooling
Outcomes	Stroke (defined by neurologic examination), perioperative death, MI, IABP
Notes	Excluded patients with previous stroke or TIA

Birdi tepid

Notes

Methods	Same study as Birdi cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid.
Participants	Same study as Birdi cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid.
Interventions	Same study as Birdi cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid.
Outcomes	Same study as Birdi cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid.
Notes	Same study as Birdi cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid.
Cook	
Methods	Method of randomisation unclear.
Participants	60 patients randomised to cold or warm CPB. No details regarding age and sex. All patients elective first time CABG
Interventions	CPB perfusate temperature maintained to give a target nasopharyngeal temperature of 28 degrees and 37 degrees repectively for the cold and warm group
Outcomes	Stroke (defined as a focal neurologic deficit), MI

Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery (Review)	

Copyright © 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Excluded patients with prior CVD or diabetes.

Engleman cold Methods Patients randomised to 3 CPB temperatures, cold, tepid and warm using a random number table and sealed envelopes. Outcome assessors of neurological tests were blind to group allocation. Comparison group cold vs warm Participants 291 patients randomised (24% women). Mean age 62.8 years. 41% patients for elective surgery Interventions 3 perfusate temperatures, cold (20 degrees), tepid (32 degrees) and warm (37 degrees) for CPB in association with 3 myocardial preservation temps, cold (8-12 degrees), tepid (32 degrees) and warm (37 degrees) cardioplegia. 3/4 surgeons administered antegrade-retrograde cardioplegia, one surgeon used only retrograde cardioplegia Outcomes Stroke (defined by neurological examination and CT scan), perioperative death, MI, Matthew score - neurological assessment including cognitive function, elemental examination and degree of disability. Matthew score measured at 3-4 days postop and 1 month post op Notes Excluded patients >76 years, patients with any history of neurological dysfunction, and patients with LVEF <30%

Engleman tepid

Methods	Same study as Engleman cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid
Participants	Same study as Engleman cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid
Interventions	Same study as Engleman cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid
Outcomes	Same study as Engleman cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid
Notes	Same study as Engleman cold. Comparison groups cold vs tepid

Fiore

11016	
Methods	Method of randomisation unclear.
Participants	52 patients randomised (12 women). Mean age 64.7 years. All for elective CABG
Interventions	Intermittant antegrade cold blood cardioplegia (4 degrees) vs intermittent antegrade tepid blood cardioplegia (29 degrees). Systemic temperature was allowed to drift to 32 degrees in both groups
Outcomes	Stroke (defined as transcient neurologic deficit).
Notes	

Hayashida cold A

Methods	Patients randomised by means of a computer generated randomisation table. Comparison group cold antegrade vs warm antegrade.
Participants	72 patients (7 women) randomised to 6 groups: cold, tepid and warm, antegrade and retrograde cardioplegia. Mean age 60.3 years (range 35-79). 32% of patients for urgent CABG
Interventions	6 cardioplegic strategies: Cold antegrade cardioplegia (8 degrees), cold retrograde caridioplegia (8 degrees), warm antegrade cardioplegia (37 degrees), warm retrograde cardioplegia (37 degrees), tepid antegrade cardioplegia (allowed to drift to 29 degrees), tepid retrograde cardioplegia (allowed to drift to 29 degrees). Systemic temperatures for all groups were allowed to drift to 33 degrees
Outcomes	Stroke (defined as transcient neurologic deficit), perioperative death, MI, LOS (defined as requirement for inotrophic medication or balloon pump support), IABP
Notes	

Hayashida cold R

Methods	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs warm retrograde.
Participants	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs warm retrograde.
Interventions	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs warm retrograde
Outcomes	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs warm retrograde.
Notes	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs warm retrograde

Hayashida tepid A

Methods	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold antegrade vs tepid antegrade
Participants	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold antegrade vs tepid antegrade
Interventions	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold antegrade vs tepid antegrade
Outcomes	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold antegrade vs tepid antegrade
Notes	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold antegrade vs tepid antegrade

Hayashida tepid R	
Methods	Same study as Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs tepid retrograde
Participants	Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs tepid retrograde
Interventions	Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs tepid retrograde
Outcomes	Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs tepid retrograde
Notes	Hayashida cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde vs tepid retrograde
Heyer	
Methods	Consecutive patients randomised to moderate or mild hypothermia. Stratified randomisation according to age. Not stated whether outcome assessors were blind to group allocation
Participants	99 patients randomised (18 women). Mean age 64 years. All patients for elective surgery undergoing first procedures
Interventions	Moderate hypothermic (target nasopharyngeal temp 28 degrees) vs mild hypothermic CPB (target nasopharyngeal temp 34 degrees). Antegrade and retrograde cold blood cardioplegia used in both groups
Outcomes	Neurologic and neuropsychometric exam pre and post op. Neuropsychometric tests included trails A and B, repetitive tapping, grooved pegboard and Busche memory tests. Data has been analysed for early tests at 6 days post op, but not late tests (6-9 weeks post hospital discharge) due to high loss to follow up
Notes	Excluded patients prior to randomisation with evidence of neurologic or psychiatric disease
Kadoi	
Methods	Consecutive patients randomised to either hypothermic or normothermic CPB, method of randomisation unclear
Participants	30 patients randomised. Mean age 64 years. All for elective CABG
Interventions	Hypothermic (target nasopharyngeal temp 30 degrees) vs normothermic (target nasopharyngeal temp >35 degrees) CPB. Intermittant antegrade blood cardioplegia (37 degrees warm group, 5 degrees cold group)
Outcomes	Mini mental status tests done preoperatively and 7 days post operatively (unpublished data kindly provided by the authors)

Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery (Review) Copyright © 2013 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Notes

No pre-existing CVD

Lajos	Lajos	
Methods	Method of randomisation unclear "patients were alternated"	
Participants	108 (28 women) patients randomised to cold blood or warm blood cardioplegia. Mean age 64 years	
Interventions	Cold blood retrograde and antegrade cardioplegia vs warm retrograde and antegrade cardioplegia (temp 37 degrees). Systemic temperature lowered to 30 degrees in the cold group, and maintained at 36-37 degrees in the warm group	
Outcomes	Stroke (not defined), perioperative death, MI, IABP.	
Notes	55 further patients randomised to cold crystalloid cardioplegia. These have not been included in this analysis due to the lack of an appropriate comparison group	

Landymore

Methods	Patients randomised to either warm or cold blood cardioplegia by a computer generated series of random numbers
Participants	40 patients randomised. Mean age 57.5 years. All elective surgery
Interventions	Antegrade warm (37 degrees) or antegrade cold blood (8 degrees) cardioplegia. Systemic temperature maintained at 37 degrees (nasopharyngeal temp) during CPB in both groups
Outcomes	Stroke, MI, perioperative death, LOS and IABP as defined by use of inotropes and IABP use
Notes	Patients included if they had 3 vessel CAD and had LVEF>25%. Excluded patients who had undergone prior cardiac operations, or who required concomitant surgery

Martin (Emory)

Methods	2 center RCT (Emory). Patients randomised by computer generated random number assignment
Participants	1001 patients randomised (24.5% women). Mean age 63.3. All elective surgery. 14.4% patients had prior CABG
Interventions	Continuous warm retrograde blood cardioplegia (>35 degrees, with systemic normothermia - >35 degrees) vs inter- mittant antegrade cold crystalloid cardioplegia (<8 degrees, with systemic hypothermia - <28 degrees)
Outcomes	Stroke (defined as a persistent central neurologic deficit), perioperative death, MI, LOS (inferred from inotrophic drug use), IABP use. Substudy re: Mora examined neuropsychometric data at 1 week and 4-6 weeks post op in a subgroup of 138 patients
Notes	

McLean (Warm Heart)

Methods	As for Warm Heart Investigators. Outcome assessors of psychometric tests were blind to group allocation
Participants	201 patients. Mean age 58.7.
Interventions	As for Warm Heart Investigators.
Outcomes	Neuropsychometric tests at 4-5 days post op, and 3 months post op. Tests included Trails A and B, WAIS revised digit symbol, WMS revised visual reproduction, Buschke total recall test and long term retrieval and grooved pegboard
Notes	Substudy of Warm Heart Investigators RCT.

Mora (Emory)

Methods	As for Martin. Outcome assessors of psychometric tests were blind to group allocation
Participants	138 patients (22% women). Mean age 63 years.
Interventions	As for Martin.
Outcomes	Neurological assessment and neuropsychometric assessment. Tests included WAIS digit span and digit symbol, WMS associate learning and mental control, and grooved pegboard. Tests were carried out at 1 week and 4-6 weeks post op
Notes	Substudy of Emory RCT. 12% patients had a previous stroke in the cold group, 3% in the warm group

Pelletie

Pelletier	
Methods	Patients randomised in blocks of 4 for equal sample size in the 2 groups
Participants	200 patients randomised (42 women). Mean age 61 years (40-80 years)
Interventions	Intermittant antegrade warm blood cardioplegia vs intermittant antegrade cold blood cardioplegia. Systemic tem- perature during CPB allowed to drift to 33-34 degrees in both groups
Outcomes	Stroke (defined as clinical presentation of the individual patient), perioperative death, MI, LOS (defined as inotrophic drug use) and IABP
Notes	Excluded patients having ops within 7 days acute MI, urgent ops, reops, and coronary ops associated with any other surgical procedure

Plourde	
Methods	Randomisation by sequentially numbered sealed envelopes. Outcome assessors of psychometric tests were blind to group allocation
Participants	62 patients (4 women) randomised to cold or warm CPB . Mean age 57 years. All for elective surgery
Interventions	CPB perfusate temperature maintained to give a target nasopharyngeal temperature of 28 degrees and 34-35 degrees in the cold and warm groups respectively. Intermittant antegrade cold blood cardioplegia (4 degrees) used for all patients, except for 6 in the warm group who recieved continuous warm blood cardioplegia
Outcomes	Stroke (not defined), perioperative death, MI. Psychometric testing 1 week post op. Tests included WAIS information subset, picture and completion subset, and digit span subset, COWAT, Trailmaking B
Notes	Excluded patients who had had prior cardiac surgery, CVD, or LVEF<0.4. Further data available for subsets of the WMS, but different versions of the tests were used pre and post operatively so data have not been collected

Rashid A

Methods	Consecutive patients randomised according to hospital numbers
Participants	281 patients (70 women). Mean age 60.2. 63% patients for elective surgery
Interventions	Moderate systemic hypothermia (nasopharyngeal temp 28 degrees, cardioplegic temp 4-6 degrees) vs normothermia (nasopharyngeal temp 37 degrees). Retrograde continuous warm and intermittant cold blood cardioplegia
Outcomes	Stroke (not defined), MI, perioperative death. LOS (inferred with inotrope use) and IABP use
Notes	

Rashid B

Rasilla D	
Methods	Consecutive patients randomised according to hospital numbers
Participants	108 patients (20 women). Median age 59 years. 72% patients for elective surgery
Interventions	Moderate systemic hypothermia (nasopharyngeal temp 28 degrees, cardioplegic temp 8 degrees) vs normothermia (nasopharyngeal temp 37 degrees). Retrograde continuous warm and intermittant cold blood cardioplegia
Outcomes	Stroke (defined as CVA - stroke and confusion), MI, perioperative death. LOS and IABP use
Notes	Patients selected prior to randomisation for moderate to severe left ventricular dysfunction (CASS score 14-15)

Regragui cold	
Methods	Patients randomised by using a random number table. Comparison group cold vs warm CPB
Participants	96 patients (12 women) randomised to one of 3 groups, cold, tepid or warm CPB. Mean age 59 years. 24% patients for urgent CABG
Interventions	CPB perfusate temperature maintained to give a target nasopharyngeal temperature of 28 degrees, 32 degrees, or 37 degrees for the cold, tepid and warm groups respectively. Myocardial protection achieved by cold antegrade crystalloid cardioplegia and topical cooling
Outcomes	Perioperative death, neurological examination and psychometric testing at 6 weeks post surgery. Psychometric tests included WAIS digit span, picture arrangement, block design, object assembly and digit symbol, and WMS verbal and visual paired associates
Notes	Excluded patients with previous neurologic disease or psychiatric illness

Regragui tepid

Methods	Same study as Regragui cold. Comparison group cold vs tepid CPB
Participants	Same study as Regragui cold. Comparison group cold vs tepid CPB
Interventions	Same study as Regragui cold. Comparison group cold vs tepid CPB
Outcomes	Same study as Regragui cold. Comparison group cold vs tepid CPB
Notes	Same study as Regragui cold. Comparison group cold vs tepid CPB

Tonz

Tonz	
Methods	Consecutive patients randomised, no method stated.
Participants	30 patients (2 women). Mean age 61.5 years. All for elective surgery, all first procedures
Interventions	Moderate systemic hypothermia (blood temperature 26-28 degrees) vs normothermia (36-37 degrees). Management of myocardial protection was identical in both groups - cold intermittant blood cardioplegia administered either retrogradely, antegradely or both
Outcomes	Stroke (defined as cerebrovascular insult), perioperative death
Notes	Excluded patients >65 years, and ejection fraction <0.35, and any previous cardiac procedure

Warm Heart	
Methods	3 center RCT (Toronto). Treatment allocation by sealed envelope, stratified by surgeon and urgent vs elective cases
Participants	1732 patients (285 women). Mean age 61 years (40-80 years). 74% elective cases
Interventions	Warm antegrade cardioplegia (37 degrees) vs cold antegrade cardioplegia (5-8 degrees). 6.3% of patients recieved at least some retrograde cardioplegia. Target systemic temperature in the warm group kept between 33-37 degrees). Target systemic temperature in the cold group reduced to 25-28 degrees by active cooling
Outcomes	Stroke (defined as persistent central neurologic deficit), perioperative death, MI, LOS (use of inotropic medication or IABP for 60 mins + to sustain SBP>90mmHg), IABP use. Substudy re: McLean looked at neurological and neuropsychological function at 5 days and 3 months post op in 201 patients
Notes	5.5% patients had had a previous TIA or stroke. Excluded patients scheduled for concomitant cardiac surgical or vascular procedures

Yau A cold A

Methods	Patients randomised using computer generated randomisation table
Participants	107 (8 women) patients randomised to 5 groups: cold antegrade, cold retrograde, warm antegrade, warm retrograde and intermittant cold cardioplegia. Mean age 59 years. 89% patients underwent elective surgery
Interventions	5 cardioplegic strategies: Warm antegrade cardioplegia (37 degrees), warm retrograde cardioplegia (37 degrees), cold antegrade cardioplegia (5 degrees), cold intermittant antegrade cardioplegia (5 degrees) and cold retrograde cardioplegia (5 degrees). In patients recieving warm cardioplegia systemic temps were allowed to drift to 30 degrees, patients recieving cold cardioplegia were actively cooled to 28 degrees
Outcomes	Stroke (not defined), perioperative death, MI, LOS (defined as IABP use), IABP
Notes	

Yau A cold int. A

Methods	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group intermittant cold antegrade cardioplegia vs warm antegrade cardioplegia
Participants	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group intermittant cold antegrade cardioplegia vs warm antegrade cardioplegia
Interventions	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group intermittant cold antegrade cardioplegia vs warm antegrade cardioplegia
Outcomes	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group intermittant cold antegrade cardioplegia vs warm antegrade cardioplegia
Notes	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group intermittant cold antegrade cardioplegia vs warm antegrade cardioplegia

Yau A cold R	
Methods	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde cardioplegia vs warm retrograde cardioplegia
Participants	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde cardioplegia vs warm retrograde cardioplegia
Interventions	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde cardioplegia vs warm retrograde cardioplegia
Outcomes	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde cardioplegia vs warm retrograde cardioplegia
Notes	
Yau B	As for Yau cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde cardioplegia vs warm retrograde cardioplegia
	As for fau cold A. Comparison group cold retrograde cardioplegia vs warm retrograde cardioplegia
	Patients randomised using computer generated randomisation table
Yau B	
Yau B Methods	Patients randomised using computer generated randomisation table
Yau B Methods Participants	Patients randomised using computer generated randomisation table 53 (1 female) patients randomised. Mean age 58.5 years. All elective CABG, with stable exertional angina Warm continuous antegrade blood cardioplegia vs antegrade intermittant cold blood cardioplegia. Systemic temper- ature in the warm group allowed to drift to 30-32 degrees, patients in the cold group were actively cooled to 25-28

CABG - coronary artery bypass graft CASS - coronary artery surgery study CVD - cerebrovascular disease CPB - cardiopulmonary bypass IABP - intra-aortic balloon pump use LOS - low output syndrome LVEF - left ventricular ejection fraction MI - myocardial infarction TIA - transcient ischaemic attack Psychometric tests: COWART - control oral word association test WAIS - Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale WMS - Wechsler Memory Scale

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Arom	Tepid vs warm temperature protocol.
Birdi	No neurological outcomes measured.
Chello	No neurological outcomes measured.
Christakis	No neurological outcomes measured.
Christakis 2	No neurological outcomes measured.
Craver	Not a randomised controlled trial.
Elwatidy	No neurological outcomes measured.
Frank	No neurological outcomes measured.
Gozal	No neurological outcomes measured.
Grech	No neurological outcomes measured.
Guiraudon	No neurological outcomes measured. Both comparison groups used hypothermia, mode of cardioplegia delivery, either antegrade or retrograde was the focus of this study
Hayashida	No neurological outcomes measured.
Kaukoranta	Tepid vs warm temperature protocol.
Nathan	No neurological outcomes measured.
Regragui	No neurological outcomes measured.
Yau	No neurological outcomes measured.

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Hypothermia versus normothermia

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Non fatal stroke	18	4249	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.68 [0.44, 1.05]
2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes)	16	4201	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.46 [0.90, 2.37]
3 Non fatal MI	17	4219	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.05 [0.81, 1.37]
4 Low output syndrome (LOS)	13	3711	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.21 [0.99, 1.48]
5 Intra-aortic balloon pump use (IABP)	13	3949	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.67 [0.44, 1.03]
6 Pooled "bad" outcomes (perioperative death, stroke, MI, LOS, IABP)	19	4311	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.07 [0.92, 1.24]
7 Early cognitive function tests	4	1546	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.43 [-1.49, 0.63]
7.1 Intellectual IQ function - WAIS RDS	3	297	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.94 [-3.38, 1.50]
7.2 Intellectual IQ function - digit span	2	146	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.70 [-1.98, 0.58]
7.3 Memory - Buschke consistent longterm retrieval	2	241	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.72 [-8.53, 7.08]
7.4 Motor skill / dexterity - Trails A	2	241	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.29 [-1.58, 6.17]
7.5 Motor skill / dexterity - Grooved Pegboard	3	326	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	3.49 [-5.33, 12.31]
7.6 Executive function - Trails B	3	295	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.27 [-8.43, 12.98]
8 Late cognitive function tests	3	811	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.23 [1.00, 0.55]
8.1 Intellectual IQ function - WAIS RDS	3	297	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.32 [-2.20, 1.57]
8.2 Intellectual IQ function - digit span	2	144	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.08 [-1.21, 1.05]
8.3 Memory - WMS verbal paired associates / associated learning	2	133	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-0.35 [-1.64, 0.94]
8.4 Motor skill / dexterity - Grooved Pegboard	2	237	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-1.28 [-10.01, 7.45]

Comparison 2. Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Non fatal stroke	5	493	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.94 [0.33, 2.73]
2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes)	3	460	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.94 [0.39, 9.66]
3 Non fatal MI	4	441	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.68 [0.26, 1.81]

Comparison 3. Hypothermia versus normothermia, retrograde delivery of cardioplegia

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Non fatal stroke	6	1720	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.55 [0.32, 0.97]
2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes)	4	1588	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.31 [0.56, 3.11]

Comparison 4. Hypothermia versus normothermia, antegrade delivery of cardioplegia

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants Statistical method		Effect size
1 Non fatal stroke	5	2237	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.93 [0.47, 1.85]
2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes)	5	2237	Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.82 [0.97, 3.40]

Analysis I.I. Comparison I Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome I Non fatal stroke.

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: I Hypothermia versus normothermia

Outcome: I Non fatal stroke

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Pete Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	-	Peto,Fixed,95% C
Birdi cold	0/100	1/100	·	1.2 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82
Cook	0/30	0/30			Not estimable
Engleman cold	6/100	4/98		11.8 %	1.49 [0.42, 5.30
Hayashida cold A	0/12	0/12			Not estimabl
Hayashida cold R	0/12	1/12	<	1.2 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82
Lajos	0/54	3/54	+	3.6 %	0.13 [0.01, 1.28
Landymore	0/20	0/20			Not estimab
Martin (Emory)	6/508	20/493		31.2 %	0.32 [0.15, 0.70
Pelletier	2/100	1/100		3.7 %	1.96 [0.20, 19.07
Plourde	0/29	1/33	• • · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1.2 %	0.15 [0.00, 7.76
Rashid A	4/144	2/137		7.3 %	1.87 [0.37, 9.43
Rashid B	2/50	2/58		4.8 %	1.17 [0.16, 8.56
Tonz	0/16	0/14			Not estimat
Warm Heart	13/872	14/860		32.8 %	0.91 [0.43, 1.96
Yau A cold A	0/20	0/21			Not estimab
Yau A cold int. A	1/22	0/21		1.2 %	7.06 [0.14, 356.21
Yau A cold R	0/22	0/22			Not estimab
Yau B	0/26	0/27			Not estimab
Fotal (95% CI)	2137	2112	-	100.0 %	0.68 [0.44, 1.05
Total (95% CT) Fotal events: 34 (Treatment), Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 13.48, Fost for overall effect: Z = 1.7 Fost for subgroup differences	49 (Control) df = 10 (P = 0.20); 72 (P = 0.086)			100.0 %	0.08 [0.44,

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 1.2. Comparison I Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes).

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: I Hypothermia versus normothermia

Outcome: 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes)

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Petc Odds Ratic
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	-	Peto,Fixed,95% C
Birdi cold	2/100	1/100		4.5 %	1.96 [0.20, 19.07
Engleman cold	1/100	1/98	·	3.0 %	0.98 [0.06, 15.78
Lajos	0/54	2/54	·	3.0 %	0.13 [0.01, 2.15
Landymore	0/20	1/20	·	1.5 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82
Martin (Emory)	8/508	5/493		19.4 %	1.55 [0.52, 4.62
Pelletier	1/100	1/100	·	3.0 %	1.00 [0.06, 16.10
Plourde	0/29	0/33			Not estimabl
Rashid A	3/144	1/137	_	6.0 %	2.61 [0.36, 18.77
Rashid B	0/50	2/58	·	3.0 %	0.15 [0.01, 2.49
Regragui cold	1/31	0/29		1.5 %	6.93 [0.14, 349.88
Tonz	0/16	0/14			Not estimabl
Warm Heart	22/872	12/860		50.5 %	1.80 [0.91, 3.54
Yau A cold A	0/20	0/21			Not estimabl
Yau A cold int. A	1/22	0/21		1.5 %	7.06 [0.14, 356.21
Yau A cold R	0/22	1/22	← +	1.5 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82
Yau B	1/26	0/27		1.5 %	7.68 [0.15, 387.26
Total (95% CI)	2114	2087	-	100.0 %	1.46 [0.90, 2.37
otal events: 40 (Treatmer	it), 27 (Control)				
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 11.0$	02, df = 12 (P = 0.53);	l ² =0.0%			
Test for overall effect: Z =	1.55 (P = 0.12)				
Test for subgroup difference	es: Not applicable				

Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis I.3. Comparison I Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 3 Non fatal MI.

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: I Hypothermia versus normothermia

Outcome: 3 Non fatal MI

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% CI		Peto,Fixed,95% C
Birdi cold	6/100	6/100		5.2 %	1.00 [0.31, 3.20
Cook	0/30	0/30			Not estimabl
Engleman cold	1/100	1/98	·	0.9 %	0.98 [0.06, 5.78
Hayashida cold A	0/12	0/12			Not estimabl
Hayashida cold R	0/12	0/12			Not estimabl
Lajos	1/54	2/54	•	1.3 %	0.5 [0.05, 4.98
Landymore	1/20	1/20	← →	0.9 %	1.00 [0.06, 16.58
Martin (Emory)	4/508	6/493		4.5 %	0.65 [0.19, 2.25
Pelletier	4/100	2/100		2.7 %	1.98 [0.39, 10.02
Plourde	0/29	0/33			Not estimat
Rashid A	7/144	8/137		6.5 %	0.82 [0.29, 2.33
Rashid B	2/50	3/58		2.2 %	0.77 [0.13, 4.61
Warm Heart	93/872	85/860	+	73.1 %	1.09 [0.80, 1.48
Yau A cold A	1/20	0/21		0.5 %	7.77 [0.15, 391.93
Yau A cold int. A	1/22	0/21		0.5 %	7.06 [0.14, 356.21
Yau A cold R	0/22	1/22	<	0.5 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82
Yau B	2/26	1/27		1.3 %	2.08 [0.21, 20.93
Total (95% CI)	2121	2098	+	100.0 %	1.05 [0.81, 1.37
Total events: 123 (Treatmen Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 5.24, Test for overall effect: Z = C Test for subgroup difference	df = 12 (P = 0.95); H 0.38 (P = 0.70)	2 =0.0%			

 0.1
 0.2
 0.5
 1
 2
 5
 10

 Favours treatment
 Favours control

Analysis I.4. Comparison I Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 4 Low output syndrome (LOS).

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: I Hypothermia versus normothermia

Outcome: 4 Low output syndrome (LOS)

Study or subgroup	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Peto Odds Ratio Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio Peto,Fixed,95% Cl
Engleman cold	22/100	19/98		8.7 %	1.17 [0.59, 2.33]
Hayashida cold A	0/12	1/12	<	0.3 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]
Hayashida cold R	0/12	0/12			Not estimable
Landymore	2/20	4/20	•	1.4 %	0.47 [0.08, 2.58]
Martin (Emory)	73/508	73/493	-	33.3 %	0.97 [0.68, 1.37]
Pelletier	23/100	17/100		8.6 %	1.45 [0.73, 2.90]
Rashid A	29/144	23/137		11.4 %	1.25 [0.68, 2.28]
Tonz	1/16	2/14	•	0.7 %	0.42 [0.04, 4.43]
Warm Heart	81/872	52/860		32.8 %	1.58 [1.11, 2.25]
Yau A cold A	0/20	1/21	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	0.3 %	0.14 [0.00, 7.16]
Yau A cold int. A	3/22	1/21		1.0 %	2.79 [0.37, 21.37]
Yau A cold R	0/22	3/22	4 1	0.8 %	0.12 [0.01, 1.25]
Yau B	3/26	0/27		0.8 %	8.33 [0.83, 83.80]
Total (95% CI)	1874	1837	•	100.0 %	1.21 [0.99, 1.48]
Total events: 237 (Treatme Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 15. Test for overall effect: Z = Test for subgroup difference	.45, df = 11 (P = 0.16); = 1.86 (P = 0.063)	l ² =29%			

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis I.5. Comparison I Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 5 Intra-aortic balloon pump use (IABP).

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: I Hypothermia versus normothermia

Outcome: 5 Intra-aortic balloon pump use (IABP)

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl		Peto,Fixed,95% CI
Birdi cold	3/100	4/100		8.1 %	0.74 [0.17, 3.35]
Engleman cold	1/100	3/98	<u>+</u>	4.7 %	0.35 [0.05, 2.56]
Hayashida cold A	0/12	1/12	~ +	1.2 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]
Hayashida cold R	0/12	0/12			Not estimable
Lajos	1/54	1/54	<→	2.4 %	1.00 [0.06, 16.20]
Martin (Emory)	10/508	7/493	-	19.9 %	1.39 [0.53, 3.62]
Pelletier	3/100	5/100		9.2 %	0.60 [0.15, 2.44]
Rashid A	3/144	4/137		8.1 %	0.71 [0.16, 3.17]
Warm Heart	14/872	21/860		40.8 %	0.66 [0.34, 1.28]
Yau A cold A	0/20	1/21	~ +	1.2 %	0.14 [0.00, 7.16]
Yau A cold int. A	0/22	1/21	+	1.2 %	0.13 [0.00, 6.51]
Yau A cold R	0/22	3/22	4	3.4 %	0.12 [0.01, 1.25]
Yau B	0/26	0/27			Not estimable
Total (95% CI)	1992	1957	•	100.0 %	0.67 [0.44, 1.03]
Total events: 35 (Treatmer	nt), 51 (Control)				
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 6.7$	'3, df = 10 (P = 0.75); I	2 =0.0%			
Test for overall effect: Z =	: I.82 (P = 0.069)				
Test for subgroup difference	ces: Not applicable				
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10		

Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis I.6. Comparison I Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 6 Pooled "bad" outcomes (perioperative death, stroke, MI, LOS, IABP).

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: I Hypothermia versus normothermia

-

-

Outcome: 6 Pooled "bad" outcomes (perioperative death, stroke, MI, LOS, IABP)

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl		Peto,Fixed,95% Cl
Birdi cold	8/100	8/100		2.2 %	1.00 [0.36, 2.77]
Cook	0/30	0/30			Not estimable
Engleman cold	31/100	28/100		6.1 %	1.15 [0.63, 2.12]
Hayashida cold A	0/12	2/12	41	0.3 %	0.12 [0.01, 2.10]
Hayashida cold R	0/12	1/12	← →	0.1 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]
Lajos	1/54	7/54	←	1.1 %	0.20 [0.05, 0.84]
Landymore	3/20	6/20		1.0 %	0.43 [0.10, 1.87]
Martin (Emory)	101/508	/493		24.3 %	0.85 [0.63, 1.16]
Pelletier	33/100	26/100		6.1 %	1.40 [0.76, 2.56]
Plourde	0/29	1/33	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	0.1 %	0.15 [0.00, 7.76]
Rashid A	46/144	38/137		8.6 %	1.22 [0.73, 2.03]
Rashid B	4/50	7/58		1.4 %	0.64 [0.19, 2.23]
Regragui cold	1/31	0/29		0.1 %	6.93 [0.14, 349.88]
Tonz	1/16	2/14	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	0.4 %	0.42 [0.04, 4.43]
Warm Heart	223/872	184/860	-	45.3 %	1.26 [1.01, 1.58]
Yau A cold A	1/20	2/21	• · · · ·	0.4 %	0.52 [0.05, 5.32]
Yau A cold int. A	6/22	2/21		1.0 %	3.14 [0.69, 14.34]
Yau A cold R	0/22	6/22	*	0.8 %	0.10 [0.02, 0.57]
Yau B	4/26	1/27		0.7 %	3.82 [0.62, 23.72]
Total (95% CI)	2168	2143	•	100.0 %	1.07 [0.92, 1.24]
Total events: 463 (Treatme Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 29$. Test for overall effect: $Z =$ Test for subgroup difference	74, df = 17 (P = 0.03); 0.90 (P = 0.37)	l ² =43%			
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10		
			Favours treatment Favours control		

Analysis I.7. Comparison I Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 7 Early cognitive function tests.

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: I Hypothermia versus normothermia

Outcome: 7 Early cognitive function tests

Mear Difference IV,Fixed,95% C	Weight	Mean Difference IV,Fixed,95% Cl	Mean(SD)	Control N	Mean(SD)	Treatment N	Study or subgroup
						VAIS RDS	I Intellectual IQ function - V
-0.90 [-4.15, 2.35	10.7 %		6.6 (.)	78	5.7 (9.5)	77	McLean (Warm Heart)
0.0 [-5.20, 5.20	4.2 %		6 (12.9)	45	6 (12)	43	Mora (Emory)
-2.00 [-7.26, 3.26	4.1 %		3.2 (11.4)	30	1.2 (8.3)	24	Plourde
-0.94 [-3.38, 1.50]	19.0 %	-		153		144	Subtotal (95% CI)
					87); I ² =0.0%	df = 2 (P = 0.8	Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0.28,
						.75 (P = 0.45)	Test for overall effect: $Z = 0$
						ligit span	2 Intellectual IQ function - d
-1.00 [-2.48, 0.48	51.8 %		(3.32)	45	0 (3.9)	47	Mora (Emory)
0.20 [-2.35, 2.75	17.4 %		-0.2 (4.85)	30	0 (4.67)	24	Plourde
-0.70 [-1.98, 0.58]	69.2 %	•		75		71	Subtotal (95% CI)
					42); I ² =0.0%	df = 1 (P = 0.4)	Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.64$,
						· · · · ·	Test for overall effect: $Z = I$
					etrieval	tent longterm re	3 Memory - Buschke consist
-0.30 [-11.04, 10.44	1.0 %	• • •	14.2 (27)	46	13.9 (23.8)	40	Heyer
-1.20 [-12.57, 10.17	0.9 %	• • • •	-7.9 (37.6)	78	-9.1 (34.6)	77	McLean (Warm Heart)
-0.72 [-8.53, 7.08]	1.9 %			124		117	Subtotal (95% CI)
					91); I ² =0.0%	df = 1 (P = 0.9	Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.01$,
						.18 (P = 0.86)	Test for overall effect: $Z = 0$
						ails A	4 Motor skill / dexterity - Tra
1.30 [-5.89, 8.49	2.2 %		-1.3 (14.6)	46	0 (18.8)	40	Heyer
2.70 [-1.90, 7.30	5.3 %		1.4 (13.65)	78	4.1 (15.5)	77	McLean (Warm Heart)
2.29 [-1.58, 6.17]	7.5 %			124		117	Subtotal (95% CI)
					75); I ² =0.0%	df = 1 (P = 0.7	Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.10$,
						.16 (P = 0.25)	Test for overall effect: $Z = I$
					rd	rooved Pegboar	5 Motor skill / dexterity - Gr
5.30 [-9.54, 20.14	0.5 %		4.7 (29.2)	46	10 (39.4)	40	Heyer
7.00 [-5.78, 19.78	0.7 %		23.3 (35.5)	78	30.3 (45.05)	77	McLean (Warm Heart)
-10.00 [-31.31, 11.31	0.2 %	•	24 (55.4)	44	14 (44.6)	41	Mora (Emory)
3.49 [-5.33, 12.31]	1.5 %			168		158	Subtotal (95% CI)

Favours treatment Favours control

(Continued ...)

(... Continued)

								(contantaco	
Study or subgroup	Treatment Control				Mean Difference		Weight	Mean Difference	
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fixe	IV,Fixed,95% CI		IV,Fixed,95% CI	
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 1.89$, c	df = 2 (P = 0.3	39); I ² =0.0%							
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.7$	78 (P = 0.44)								
6 Executive function - Trails B	5								
Heyer	40	9.8 (61.1)	46	17.7 (62.5)	↓ ·		• 0.2 %	-7.90 [-34.07, 18.27]	
McLean (Warm Heart)	77	23.7 (48.1)	78	17.8 (42.2)			• 0.6 %	5.90 [-8.35, 20.15]	
Plourde	24	-7 (36.9)	30	-8 (40.3)	•		• 0.3 %	1.00 [-19.64, 21.64]	
Subtotal (95% CI)	141		154				- 1.0 %	2.27 [-8.43, 12.98]	
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.84$, c	df = 2 (P = 0.6	56); l ² =0.0%							
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.4$	12 (P = 0.68)								
Total (95% CI)	748		798		•		100.0 %	-0.43 [-1.49, 0.63]	
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 7.01$, c	df = 14 (P = 0	.93); l ² =0.0%							
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.7$	79 (P = 0.43)								
Test for subgroup differences:	Chi ² = 3.24,	df = 5 (P = 0.66	5), l ² =0.0%						
					-10 -5	0 5	10		
				Fav	ours treatment	Favours con	ntrol		

Analysis 1.8. Comparison I Hypothermia versus normothermia, Outcome 8 Late cognitive function tests.

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: I Hypothermia versus normothermia

Outcome: 8 Late cognitive function tests

Study or subgroup	Treatment		Control		Mean Difference	Weight	Mear Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fixed,95% CI		IV,Fixed,95% C
I Intellectual IQ function - V	wais RDS						
McLean (Warm Heart)	77	-4.2 (10)	78	-4.5 (11.6)		5.1 %	0.30 [-3.11, 3.71
Mora (Emory)	37	-5 (11.7)	45	-4 (13.5)		2.0 %	-1.00 [-6.46, 4.46
Regragui cold	31	-1.5 (4)	29	-1 (5.6)		9.7 %	-0.50 [-2.98, 1.98
Subtotal (95% CI)	145		152		-	16.9 %	-0.32 [-2.20, 1.57
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.2I$,	df = 2 (P = 0.9	90); l ² =0.0%					
Test for overall effect: $Z = C$	0.33 (P = 0.74)						
2 Intellectual IQ function - c	ligit span						
Mora (Emory)	39	-2 (4.27)	45	-1 (3.8)		19.7 %	-1.00 [-2.74, 0.74
Regragui cold	31	-0.2 (2.9)	29	-0.8 (3)	-	26.7 %	0.60 [-0.89, 2.09
Subtotal (95% CI)	70		74		+	46.4 %	-0.08 [-1.21, 1.05
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 1.87,	df = 1 (P = 0.	17); I ² =46%					
Test for overall effect: $Z = C$	0.14 (P = 0.89)						
3 Memory - WMS verbal pa	aired associates	/ associated lear	rning				
Mora (Emory)	39	0 (3.7)	45	0 (3.41)	-+-	25.5 %	0.0 [-1.53, 1.53
Regragui cold	25	0.2 (3.9)	24	1.4 (4.6)		10.4 %	-1.20 [-3.59, 1.19
Subtotal (95% CI)	64		69		•	35.9 %	-0.35 [-1.64, 0.94
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.69$,	df = 1 (P = 0.4)	11); l ² =0.0%					
Test for overall effect: $Z = C$	0.53 (P = 0.60)						
4 Motor skill / dexterity - G	rooved Pegboa	rd					
McLean (Warm Heart)	77	-13.6 (33.3)	78	-12.5 (28.6)	• • • •	- 0.6 %	-1.10 [-10.88, 8.68
Mora (Emory)	38	-11 (41.8)	44	-9 (47.9)	• • •	→ 0.2 %	-2.00 [-21.42, 17.42
Subtotal (95% CI)	115		122			0.8 %	-1.28 [-10.01, 7.45
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0.01,	df = 1 (P = 0.9)	94); I ² =0.0%					
Test for overall effect: $Z = C$	0.29 (P = 0.77)						
Total (95% CI)	394		417		+	100.0 %	-0.23 [-1.00, 0.55
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 2.93,	df = 8 (P = 0.9)	94); l ² =0.0%					
Test for overall effect: $Z = C$	0.57 (P = 0.57)						
Test for subgroup difference	es: $Chi^2 = 0.16$,	df = 3 (P = 0.98	8), l ² =0.0%				
					-10 -5 0 5	10	
				Fav	ours treatment Favours c	ontrol	

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia, Outcome 1 Non fatal stroke.

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia

Outcome: I Non fatal stroke

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio	
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% CI		Peto,Fixed,95% CI	
Birdi tepid	0/100	1/100	+ =	7.4 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]	
Engleman tepid	6/100	3/93		63.5 %	1.86 [0.49, 7.07]	
Fiore	1/27	1/25	< -	14.4 %	0.92 [0.06, 15.22]	
Hayashida tepid A	0/12	1/12	· •	7.4 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]	
Hayashida tepid R	0/12	1/12	••	7.4 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]	
Total (95% CI)	251	242	-	100.0 %	0.94 [0.33, 2.73]	
Total events: 7 (Treatment)), 7 (Control)					
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 3.82	2, df = 4 (P = 0.43); l ²	=0.0%				
Test for overall effect: Z =	0.11 (P = 0.91)					
Test for subgroup difference	es: Not applicable					
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10			

Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia, Outcome 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes).

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia

Outcome: 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes)

Study or subgroup	Treatment Control		Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio	
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl		Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	
Birdi tepid	2/100	0/100	 *	33.4 %	7.46 [0.46, 120.17]	
Engleman tepid	1/100	2/93	• •	49.8 %	0.47 [0.05, 4.61]	
Regragui tepid	1/31	0/36		16.7 %	8.68 [0.17, 442.38]	
Total (95% CI)	231	229		100.0 %	1.94 [0.39, 9.66]	
Total events: 4 (Treatmen	t), 2 (Control)					
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 2.9$	94, df = 2 (P = 0.23); I ²	=32%				
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 0.81 (P = 0.42)					
Test for subgroup differen	nces: Not applicable					
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10			

Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia, Outcome 3 Non fatal MI.

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: 2 Hypothermia versus tepid temperature or mild hypothermia

Outcome: 3 Non fatal MI

Study or subgroup	Treatment Control		Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio	
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	-	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	
Birdi tepid	6/100	8/100		81.4 %	0.74 [0.25, 2.18]	
Engleman tepid	1/100	1/93	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	12.4 %	0.93 [0.06, 15.00]	
Hayashida tepid A	0/12	0/12			Not estimable	
Hayashida tepid R	0/12	1/12	· •	6.2 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]	
Total (95% CI)	224	217		100.0 %	0.68 [0.26, 1.81]	
Total events: 7 (Treatment), 10 (Control)					
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.7$	2, df = 2 (P = 0.70); l ²	=0.0%				
Test for overall effect: $Z =$	0.77 (P = 0.44)					
Test for subgroup difference	es: Not applicable					

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Hypothermia versus normothermia, retrograde delivery of cardioplegia, Outcome 1 Non fatal stroke.

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: 3 Hypothermia versus normothermia, retrograde delivery of cardioplegia

Outcome: I Non fatal stroke

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio	
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl		Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	
Engleman cold	6/100	4/98		19.6 %	1.49 [0.42, 5.30]	
Hayashida cold R	0/12	1/12	<	2.1 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]	
Lajos	0/54	3/54	*	6.1 %	0.13[0.01, 1.28]	
Martin (Emory)	6/508	20/493	— — —	52.2 %	0.32 [0.15, 0.70]	
Rashid A	4/144	2/137		12.1 %	1.87 [0.37, 9.43]	
Rashid B	2/50	2/58		8.0 %	1.17 [0.16, 8.56]	
Total (95% CI)	868	852	•	100.0 %	0.55 [0.32, 0.97]	
Total events: 18 (Treatme	nt), 32 (Control)					
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 8.9	97, df = 5 (P = 0.11); l ²	=44%				
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 2.06 (P = 0.040)					
Test for subgroup differen	nces: Not applicable					

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3 Hypothermia versus normothermia, retrograde delivery of cardioplegia, Outcome 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes).

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: 3 Hypothermia versus normothermia, retrograde delivery of cardioplegia

Outcome: 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes)

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N	Peto,Fixed,95% Cl		Peto,Fixed,95% CI
Engleman cold	1/100	1/98	<→	9.6 %	0.98 [0.06, 15.78]
Martin (Emory)	8/508	5/493		61.9 %	1.55 [0.52, 4.62]
Rashid A	3/144	1/137		19.1 %	2.61 [0.36, 18.77]
Rashid B	0/50	2/58	· •	9.5 %	0.15 [0.01, 2.49]
Total (95% CI)	802	786	-	100.0 %	1.31 [0.56, 3.11]
Total events: 12 (Treatme	ent), 9 (Control)				
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 2.8$	88, df = 3 (P = 0.41); I ²	=0.0%			
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 0.62 (P = 0.53)				
Test for subgroup differen	nces: Not applicable				
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10		

Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Hypothermia versus normothermia, antegrade delivery of cardioplegia, Outcome 1 Non fatal stroke.

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: 4 Hypothermia versus normothermia, antegrade delivery of cardioplegia

Outcome: I Non fatal stroke

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Peto Odds Ratio	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N Peto,Fixed,95% Cl			Peto,Fixed,95% CI
Birdi cold	0/100	1/100	← +	3.1 %	0.14 [0.00, 6.82]
Pelletier	2/100	1/100		9.1 %	1.96 [0.20, 19.07]
Plourde	0/29	1/33	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	3.1 %	0.15 [0.00, 7.76]
Warm Heart	3/872	14/860		81.7 %	0.91 [0.43, 1.96]
Yau A cold int. A	1/22	0/21		3.1 %	7.06 [0.14, 356.21]
Total (95% CI)	1123	1114	-	100.0 %	0.93 [0.47, 1.85]
Total events: 16 (Treatme	nt), 17 (Control)				
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 3.1	8, df = 4 (P = 0.53); I ²	=0.0%			
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 0.20 (P = 0.84)				
Test for subgroup differen	ices: Not applicable				

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10

Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 4.2. Comparison 4 Hypothermia versus normothermia, antegrade delivery of cardioplegia, Outcome 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes).

Review: Hypothermia to reduce neurological damage following coronary artery bypass surgery

Comparison: 4 Hypothermia versus normothermia, antegrade delivery of cardioplegia

Outcome: 2 Perioperative deaths (not strokes)

Study or subgroup	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Peto Odds Ratio Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	Weight	Peto Odds Ratio Peto,Fixed,95% Cl	
Birdi cold	2/100	1/100		7.6 %	1.96 [0.20, 19.07]	
Pelletier	1/100	1/100	·	5.1 %	1.00 [0.06, 16.10]	
Plourde	0/29	0/33			Not estimable	
Warm Heart	22/872	12/860		84.8 %	1.80 [0.91, 3.54]	
Yau A cold int. A	1/22	0/21		2.5 %	7.06 [0.14, 356.21]	
Total (95% CI)	1123	1114	•	100.0 %	1.82 [0.97, 3.40]	
Total events: 26 (Treatme	ent), 14 (Control)					
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.6$	64, df = 3 (P = 0.89); l ²	=0.0%				
Test for overall effect: Z =	= I.87 (P = 0.061)					
Test for subgroup differen	nces: Not applicable					
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10			
			Favours treatment Favours control			

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Early psychometric test results (within 1 week post op)

Study ID	Type of test	Specific test	N Inter- vention	Mean change	SD Differ- ence	N Control	Mean change	SD Differ- ence	Interpre- tation
Mora (Emory) 1996	Intel- lectual IQ function	WAIS re- vised digit symbol	43	-6	12	45	-6	12.9	Deteri- oration in both groups to same ex- tent
Plourde 1997		WAIS re- vised digit symbol	24	-1.2	8.3	30	-3.2	11.4	Deteriora- tion greater in control group

McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		WAIS re- vised digit symbol	77	-5.7	9.5	78	-6.6	11.1	Deteriora- tion greater in control group
Mora (Emory) 1996		WAIS digit span	47	0	3.9	45	-1.0	3.3	Deteri- oration in control group
Plourde 1997		WAIS digit span	24	0	4.7	30	0.2	4.85	No deteri- ora- tion in ei- ther group
Plourde 1997		WAIS in- formation	24	1.4	5.34	30	1.3	6.05	No deteri- ora- tion in ei- ther group
Plourde 1997		WAIS pic- ture com- pletion	24	1.1	2.88	30	0.9	3.15	No deteri- ora- tion in ei- ther group
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994	Memory	WMS vi- sual repro- duction	77	0.8	5.9	78	1.5	5.5	No deteri- ora- tion in ei- ther group
Mora (Emory) 1996		WMS as- sociated learning	43	-4.0	3.3	43	-3.0	2.83	Deteriora- tion greater in interven- tion group
Mora (Emory) 1996		WMS mental control	47	0	1.93	45	-1.0	1.9	Deteri- oration in control group
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		Buschke total recall test	77	8	20.3	78	9.2	20.1	No deteri- ora- tion in ei- ther group

Table 1. Early psychometric test results (within 1 week post op) (Continued)

McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		Buschke CLTR	77	9.1	34.6	78	7.9	37.6	No deteri- ora- tion in ei- ther group
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994	Motor skill / dexterity	Trails A	77	4.1	15.5	78	1.4	13.65	Deteriora- tion greater in interven- tion group
Mora (Emory) 1996		Grooved pegboard	41	14.0	44.6	44	24.0	55.4	Deteriora- tion greater in control group
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		Grooved pegboard	77	30.3	45.1	78	23.3	35.5	Deteriora- tion greater in interven- tion group
Plourde 1997	Executive function	Trails B	24	-7.0	36.9	30	-8.0	40.3	Improve- ment in both groups
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		Trails B	77	23.7	48.1	78	17.8	42.2	Deteriora- tion greater in interven- tion group
Plourde 1997		COWAT	24	2.7	9.2	30	1.5	10.8	Deteri- oration in both groups

Table 1. Early psychometric test results (within 1 week post op) (Continued)

 Table 2.
 Late psychometric test results (1-3 months post op)

Study ID	Type of test	Specific test	N Inter- vention	Mean change	SD Differ- ence	N Control	Mean Change	SD Differ- ence	Interpre- tation
Mora (Emory) 1996	Intel- lectual IQ function	WAIS re- vised digit symbol	37	5	11.7	45	4	13.5	Improve- ment in

									both groups
Regragui - cold 1996		WAIS re- vised digit symbol	31	1.5	4	29	1	5.6	Improve- ment in both groups
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		WAIS re- vised digit symbol	77	4.2	10	78	4.5	11.6	Improve- ment in both groups
Mora (Emory) 1996		WAIS digit span	39	2	4.3	45	1	3.8	Improve- ment in both groups
Regragui - cold 1996		WAIS digit span	31	0.2	2.9	29	0.8	3	Slight im- prove- ment both groups
Regragui - cold 1996		WAIS pic- ture ar- rangement	31	0.2	5.6	28	-1.4	5.2	Deteri- oration in control group
Regragui - cold 1996		WAIS block de- sign	31	-0.5	5.7	29	-1.0	7.1	Deteriora- tion greater in control group
Regragui - cold 1996		WAIS ob- ject assem- bly	31	0.5	3.9	29	-0.2	5.6	No real change in either group
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994	Memory	WMS vi- sual repro- duction	77	2.2	5.45	78	1.8	5.5	Improve- ment in both groups
Regragui - cold 1996		WMS vi- sual paired associates	23	1.5	4.7	21	-0.1	3.8	Slight im- prove- ment in in- tervention

Table 2. Late psychometric test results (1-3 months post op) (Continued)

									group
Regragui - cold 1996		WMS ver- bal paired associates	25	-0.2	3.9	24	-1.4	4.6	Deteriora- tion greater in control group
Mora (Emory) 1996		WMS as- soci- ated learn- ing (same test as ver- bal paired associates)	39	0	3.7	45	0	3.4	No change in either group
Mora (Emory) 1996		WMS mental control	39	1	1.85	45	0	1.9	Slight im- provement interven- tion group
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		Buschke total recall test	77	8.4	17.7	78	8.2	19.5	Improve- ment in both groups
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		Buschke CLTR	77	10.3	33.9	78	11.6	35.3	Improve- ment in both groups
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994	Motor skill / dexterity	Trails A	77	-1.6	11.7	78	-1.8	13.2	Improve- ment in both groups
Mora (Emory) 1996		Grooved pegboard	38	-11	41.8	44	-9.0	47.9	Improve- ment in both groups
McLean (Warm Heart) 1994		Grooved pegboard	77	-13.6	33.3	78	-12.5	28.6	Improve- ment in both groups
McLean (Warm Heart)	Executive function	Trails B	77	-10.2	32.9	78	-8.8	33.8	Improve- ment in

Table 2. Late psychometric test results (1-3 months post op) (Continued)

Table 2. Late psychometric test results (1-3 months post op) (Continued)

1994					both
					groups

Study ID	Investigation(s)	Results
Engleman cold	Mathew Scale measured at baseline, 3-4 days post op, and I month post op	Deterioration seen in both groups to a similar extent 3-4 days post op (mean change -4.9 and 4.6 respectively for I and C groups), which is improved but not resolved at 1 month (mean change from baseline -1.3 for both groups)
Kadoi 1999 (unpublished data)	Mini Mental Status score measured at baseline and 7 days post op	Deterioration as shown by a decrease in score was seen in both groups post operatively, with greater deficit seen in the intervention group (mean change in score -6 and -4 respectively for I and C groups)
Martin 1994 (EMORY)	Neurological examination 3 days or less post op. Looked for global confusion or incoher- ence suggestive of diffuse encephalopathy	Diffuse encephalopathy seen in 0.2% of pa- tients in the hypothermic group, and 0.4% of patients in the normothermic group
Mora 1996 (substudy of EMORY)	Neurologic assessment included an evaluation of mental status, motor and sensory function, hand coordination, deep tendon and primitive reflexes, at baseline and post operatively before discharge. Perioperative neurological deficits were diagnosed by any of the following: altered level of consciousness or confusion, impaired speech, visual disturbances, new or worsened motor or sensory deficits	Perioperative central neurologic deficits were found in 6/68 patients in the normothermic group, none in the hypothermic group
Regragui 1996	Full neurologic examination on day 4 post op	A positive grasp reflex, and positive Babinski reflex were elicited in 4/60 patients post oper- atively (2 in each comparison group)

Table 3. Neurological examination results in hypothermia vs normothermia

Table 4. Early and late psychometric test results - moderate vs mild hypothermia

Study ID	Type of test	Specific test	N Inter- vention	Mean Change	SD Differ- ence	N Control	Mean Change	SD Differ- ence	Interpre- tation
EARLY TESTS (1 week post op)									

Heyer 1997	Memory	Buschke CLTR	40	-13.9	23.8	46	-14.2	27	Deteri- oration in both groups to similar ex- tent
Heyer 1997		Buschke LTR	40	-21.3	24	46	-21.5	28.5	Deteri- oration in both groups to similar ex- tent
Heyer 1997	Motor skill / dexterity	Trails A	40	0	18.8	46	-1.3	14.6	Slight im- provement in control group
Heyer 1997 (dominant hand)		Grooved pegboard	40	10.0	39.4	46	4.7	29.2	Deteriora- tion greater in interven- tion group
Heyer 1997 (non- dominant hand)		Grooved pegboard	40	17.1	62.7	46	10.1	34.1	Deteriora- tion greater in interven- tion group
Heyer 1997 (dominant hand)		Repetitive tapping	40	-1.2	9.6	46	-2.9	10.3	Improve- ment in both groups
Heyer 1997 (non- dominant hand)		Repetitive tapping	40	-2.2	7.7	46	-0.9	9.9	Improve- ment in both groups
Heyer 1997	Executive function	Trails B	40	9.8	61.1	46	17.7	62.5	Deteriora- tion greater in control group

Table 4. Early and late psychometric test results - moderate vs mild hypothermia (Continued)

LATE TESTS (6 weeks post op)									
Regragui - tepid 1996	Intel- lectual IQ function	WAIS re- vised digit symbol	31	1.5	4	36	3.4	5.1	Improve- ment in both groups
Regragui - tepid 1996		WAIS digit span	31	0.2	2.9	35	0.11	2.7	Very slight improve- ment both groups
Regragui - tepid 1996		WAIS pic- ture ar- rangement	31	0.2	5.6	35	-1.2	4.0	Deteri- oration in control group
Regragui - tepid 1996		WAIS block de- sign	31	-0.5	5.7	35	1.6	5.9	Slight de- teriora- tion in the interven- tion group.
Regragui - tepid 1996		WAIS ob- ject assem- bly	31	0.5	3.9	36	1.5	4.6	Slight im- provement greater in control group
Regragui - tepid 1996	Memory	WMS vi- sual paired associates	23	1.5	4.7	28	-0.9	4.6	Slight im- prove- ment in in- tervention group
Regragui - tepid 1996		WMS ver- bal paired associates	25	-0.2	3.9	31	-0.4	3.7	Very slight deteri- oration in both groups

 Table 4. Early and late psychometric test results - moderate vs mild hypothermia (Continued)

Table 5.	Neurological	examination	results in	moderate vs	mild hypothermia
----------	--------------	-------------	------------	-------------	------------------

Study ID	Investigation(s)	Results
Engleman tepid	Mathew Scale measured at baseline, 3-4 days post op, and I month post op	Deterioration in scores to a similar extent in both groups (mean change in score -4.9 in the hypothermic group, -4.6 in the tepid group), this is improved but not resolved at 1 month (mean change from baseline -1.3 and -1.8 respectively in the I and C groups)
Regragui 1996 tepid	Full neurologic examination on day 4 post op	A positive grasp reflex elicited in 3/67 patients (2 in the hypothermic group, 1 in the tepid group), and a positive Babinski reflex elicited in 6/67 patients (2 in the hypothermic group, and 4 in the tepid group)
Heyer 1997	Mini Mental Status score measured at baseline and 6 days post op	No significant change in score in either group.
Heyer 1997	Neurological examination including evaluation of cra- nial nerves and motor, sensory and cerebellar systems, gait, station, deep tendon and primitive reflexes, mea- sured at baseline and post operatively before hospital discharge	Subtle deficits were detected by neurologic examina- tion in 35% of patients in the hypothermic group, and 27% of patients in the normothermic group

WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 23 October 2000.

Date	Event	Description
11 December 2012	Review declared as stable	This review is of historical interest as hypothermia has been superseded in many countries by alternative method. We consider it worth keeping on the library

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 4, 2000 Review first published: Issue 1, 2001

Date	Event	Description
27 October 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.
23 October 2000	New citation required and conclusions have changed	Substantive amendment

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

All co-reviewers were involved in the design of the review and in providing critical comments about the manuscript. Karen Rees and Morven Beranek-Stanley independently assessed studies for inclusion or exclusion, and independently extracted data from the source papers. Margaret Burke searched the literature for relevant trials. Karen Rees performed statistical analyses. Shah Ebrahim was the primary advisor. Karen Rees was primarily responsible for carrying out and writing the review and was principal author.

We gratefully acknowledge the contribution made by Professor David Naylor who provided us with data and valuable advice.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Department of Social Medicine, University of Bristol, UK.

External sources

- British Heart Foundation, UK.
- Research and Development, Department of Health, UK.

ΝΟΤΕS

This review is of historical interest as hypothermia has been superseded in many countries by alternative method. We consider it worth keeping on the library.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Hypothermia, Induced [adverse effects; mortality]; Cardiac Output, Low [etiology]; Cognition Disorders [prevention & control]; Coronary Artery Bypass [*adverse effects; mortality]; Meta-Analysis as Topic; Myocardial Infarction [etiology]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic; Stroke [mortality; *prevention & control]

MeSH check words

Humans